

WORKING GROUP ON ACUTE PURCHASING

Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) in the

Management of Knee Disorders

April 1999

GUIDANCE NOTE FOR PURCHASERS 99/05

Series Editor: Nick Payne

InterDEC No: 14/1999

Trent Development and Evaluation Committee

The purpose of the Trent Development and Evaluation Committee is to help health authorities and other purchasers within the Trent Region by commenting on expert reports which evaluate changes in health service provision. The Committee is comprised of members appointed on the basis of their individual knowledge and expertise. It is chaired by Professor Sir David Hull.

The Committee recommends, on the basis of appropriate evidence, priorities for:

- the direct development of innovative services on a pilot basis;
- service developments to be secured by health authorities.

The statement that follows was produced by the Development and Evaluation Committee at its meeting on 13 April 1999 at which this Guidance Note for Purchasers (in a draft form) was considered.

MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING (MRI) IN THE MANAGEMENT OF **KNEE DISORDERS**

AUTHORS: Beard S M, Perez I, Touch S, Bickerstaff D. Trent Institute for Health Services Research, Universities of Leicester, Nottingham and Sheffield 1999. Guidance Note for Purchasers: 99/05.

EXPERT ADVISORS TO TRENT DEC: Dr I Perez, Senior Registrar in Public Health Medicine, Nottingham Health Authority; Mr S M Beard, Senior Operational Research Analyst, The School of Health and Related Research (ScHARR)

(The recommendations made by the Committee may not necessarily match the personal opinions expressed by the experts)

DECISION: On the information presented to it, the Committee was unable to make recommendations on the place of MRI in the management of knee disorders. It appeared that the more expert the clinician, the less need there was for MRI. The Committee hoped that evidence would be collected so that guidance could be prepared on when referral for MRI was appropriate.



TRENT DEVELOPMENT & EVALUATION COMMITTEE c/o Nottingham Health Authority • 1 Standard Court • Park Row • Nottingham • NG1 6GN Tel: 0115 912 33 44 Fax: 0115 912 33 51

April 1999

MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING (MRI) IN THE MANAGEMENT OF KNEE DISORDERS

S M Beard I Perez S Touch D Bickerstaff

Series Editor: Nick Payne

Trent Institute for Health Services Research Universities of Leicester, Nottingham and Sheffield

GUIDANCE NOTE FOR PURCHASERS 99/05 InterDEC No: 14/1999 Published by the Trent Institute for Health Services Research

© 1999 Trent Institute for Health Services Research, Universities of Leicester, Nottingham and Sheffield.

ISBN 1 900 733 32 3

Referencing information:

Beard SM, Perez I, Touch S, Bickerstaff D. *Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) in the Management of Knee Disorders*. Sheffield: Trent Institute for Health Services Research, Universities of Leicester, Nottingham and Sheffield, 1999. Guidance Note for Purchasers: 99/05.

Further copies of this document are available (price £15.00) from:-

Alison Ring Information Resources Regent Court 30 Regent Street SHEFFIELD S1 4DA

 Tel
 0114 222 0703

 Fax
 0114 272 4095

 E-mail
 scharrlib@sheffield.ac.uk

Please make cheques payable to "The University of Sheffield"

Conflict of Interest

None of the authors of this document has any financial interests in the drug or product being evaluated here.

AUTHORS

Mr S M Beard is a Senior Operational Research Analyst at The School of Health and Related Research (ScHARR), The University of Sheffield.

Dr I Perez is a Senior Registrar in Public Health Medicine at Nottingham Health Authority Ms S Touch is a Research Assistant at The School of Health and Related Research (ScHARR), The University of Sheffield.

Mr D Bickerstaff is a Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon at Northern General Hospital NHS Trust, Sheffield.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We should like to acknowledge the help, support and guidance of the following people throughout the project:

Mr C J McCabe, Lecturer in Health Economics, The School of Health and Related Research (ScHARR), The University of Sheffield.

Ms S F Paisley, Senior Information Officer, Trent Institute for Health Services Research.

ABOUT THE TRENT INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH SERVICES RESEARCH

The Trent Institute for Health Services Research is a collaborative venture between the Universities of Leicester, Nottingham and Sheffield with support from NHS Executive Trent.

The Trent Institute:

- undertakes Health Services Research (HSR), adding value to the research through the networks created by the Institute;
- provides advice and support to NHS staff on undertaking HSR;
- provides training in HSR for career researchers and for health service professionals;
- provides educational support to NHS staff in the application of the results of research;
- disseminates the results of research to influence the provision of health care.

The Directors of the Institute are:	Professor R L Akehurst (Sheffield);
	Professor C E D Chilvers (Nottingham); and
	Professor M Clarke (Leicester).

Professor Clarke currently undertakes the role of Institute Co-ordinator.

A Core Unit, which provides central administrative and co-ordinating services, is located in Regent Court within The University of Sheffield in conjunction with The School of Health and Related Research (ScHARR).

FOREWORD

The Trent Working Group on Acute Purchasing was set up to enable purchasers to share research knowledge about the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of acute service interventions and determine collectively their purchasing policy. The Group is facilitated by The School of Health and Related Research (ScHARR), part of the Trent Institute for Health Services Research, the ScHARR Support Team being led by Professor Ron Akehurst and Dr Nick Payne, Consultant Senior Lecturer in Public Health Medicine.

The process employed operates as follows. A list of topics for consideration by the Group is recommended by the purchasing authorities in Trent and approved by the Health Authorities and Trusts Chief Executives (HATCH) and the Trent Development and Evaluation Committee (DEC). A public health consultant from a purchasing authority leads on each topic assisted by a support team from ScHARR, which provides help including literature searching, health economics and modelling. A seminar is led by the public health consultant on the particular intervention where purchasers and provider clinicians consider research evidence and agree provisional recommendations on purchasing policy. The guidance emanating from the seminars is reflected in this series of Guidance Notes which have been reviewed by the Trent DEC, chaired by Professor Sir David Hull.

In order to share this work on reviewing the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of clinical interventions, The Trent Institute's Working Group on Acute Purchasing has joined a wider collaboration, InterDEC, with units in other regions. These are: The Wessex Institute for Health Research and Development, The Scottish Health Purchasing Information Centre (SHPIC) and The University of Birmingham Department of Public Health and Epidemiology.

Professor R L Akehurst, Chairman, Trent Working Group on Acute Purchasing.

CONTENTS

EXEC	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1		1
1.	INTRO	DUCTION	3
	1.1	Scope of Knee Injuries	4
	1.2	Epidemiology of Knee Disorder	6
	1.3	Current Diagnostic Services for Knee Injuries	8
	1.4	Description of MRI Scanning	9

MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING IN THE MANAGEMENT OF KNEE 2. DISORDERS: SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE OF EFFECTIVENESS 11

2.1	Search Strategy	11
2.2	Diagnostic Performance Indicators	11
2.3	Evidence of Diagnostic Accuracy	12
2.4	Impact of MRI on Patient Management	23
2.5	Effect of MRI on Patient Outcomes	26

3. COST AND BENEFIT IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTING INTERVENTION 27

3.1	Usage of MRI and Arthroscopy	27
3.2	Costs of MRI and Arthroscopy	28
3.3	Cost and Benefit Modelling	30
3.4	Sensitivity Analysis	34

4. **OPTIONS FOR PURCHASERS AND PROVIDERS** 35 5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS 37

		•
GLOSSARY		40
APPENDIX A	Lateral/Medial Views of the Knee Joint	41

APPENDIX B	Clinical Examination Accuracy Studies	42
APPENDIX C	MRI Diagnostic Accuracy Studies	43
APPENDIX D	Low vs High Field Strength Studies	47
REFERENCES		48

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1	Typical Breakdown of Presenting Knee Injuries	6
Table 2	Trent PIS - Breakdown of Primary Diagnosis Codes	7
Table 3	MRI Scanning - Pros and Cons	10
Table 4	Glossary of MRI Techniques	10
Table 5	Diagnostic Performance Indicators	11
Table 6	MRI Diagnostic Accuracy (Mackenzie Review)	18
Table 7	MRI Diagnostic Accuracy (Rappeport Review)	18
Table 8	Diagnostic Performance of MRI by Field Strength (Rappeport Review)	20
Table 9	Potential Impact on Patient Management of MRI Scanning	25
Table 10	The Major Uses of MRI Examinations in 1993.	27
Table 11	Trent MRI Usage for Knee Investigations	27
Table 12	Trent PIS Arthroscopy for Knee Derangement	28
Table 13	Trent Arthroscopy Usage for Knee Derangement	28
Table 14	Published Costs of MRI and Arthroscopy	29
Table 15	Scenario 1 - Low Level Avoidable Arthroscopy	32
Table 16	Scenario 2 - Average Level of Avoidable Arthroscopy	33
Table 17	Scenario 3 - High Level of Avoidable Arthroscopy	34
Figure 1	Meniscal/Cruciate Structures of the Knee	5
Figure 2	Diagnostic Performance of MRI by Field Strength	21

Figure 3 Sensitivity of MRI Marginal Cost 35

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Disorders within the knee are collectively referred to as 'derangement of the knee'. Around 50% of such disorders are likely to be meniscal injuries or involve loose bodies within the knee structure. A further 25% are related to injuries to the anterior cruciate ligament, with the remaining 25% split between posterior cruciate ligament and cartilage damage. There are no good routine data on the epidemiology of knee disorders. A 'typical' district of 500,000 population should expect to see around 430 patients with knee disorders per annum, presenting to orthopaedic units for arthroscopy.

The use of Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) in the diagnostic investigation of acute and chronic knee injury/disorder is well documented. There are now increasing pressures for MRI to be used as a routine pre-screening diagnostic process, rather than relying solely on the diagnostic results of arthroscopy. The reference standard to which MRI is most often compared is that of arthroscopy. The advantages of arthroscopy are the ability to observe directly the internal knee structure and the opportunity to carry out therapeutic interventions at the same time. However, it is the case that some knee injuries can remain hidden to arthroscopy. The overall accuracy of arthroscopy has been commonly quoted as being between 70-100%. The theoretical advantage of using MRI, as a supplement to a clinical examination of the knee, is that a number of subsequent arthroscopies can be avoided which would otherwise result in no further therapeutic action. However, the scale of this impact is greatly debated.

A number of studies have attempted to evaluate the diagnostic accuracy of clinical examination compared to a blinded, or independent, MRI scan. Some reveal that clinical diagnosis can often miss knee disorders, leading to more diagnostic uncertainty and further exploratory arthroscopies. Others, particularly those from specialist clinics, report very similar findings between clinical examination and MRI. From these studies it is clear that MRI is certainly not a substitute for a thorough clinical examination, and should only be considered as an addition to an initial clinical diagnosis.

A number of blinded and unblinded studies have considered the relative diagnostic accuracy of MRI, compared to arthroscopy. Overall, the published evidence suggests that MRI provides an equivalent diagnostic performance to arthroscopy in cases of meniscal and cruciate knee disorder.

1

In considering the relative importance of MRI field strength, evidence suggests that field strength is not a significant determinant of diagnostic reliability for MRI assessment of internal derangement of the knee. Therefore, low field strength machines (<1 Tesla) should be expected to produce a diagnostic accuracy and image quality that is comparable to high field strength machines (>1 Tesla). The advantages are the potential for smaller operating costs and more flexibility and comfort for patients through dedicated machines.

A moderate number of studies consider whether the addition of MRI to the diagnostic process can have any influence on eventual patient management. There is a very wide range of opinion on this issue, with the reported impact of different studies ranging from less than 10%, to around 60-70% reductions in the number of arthroscopies eventually conducted. It is very difficult given the available data, to make any direct comparisons between the studies and to be clear on the precise patient groups involved. However, the majority of the studies do report between 30-50% reductions in arthroscopies, with some reporting additional reductions in waiting lists.

It remains difficult to evaluate accurately the potential cost implications of MRI, as it is clearly dependent on the amount of avoidable arthroscopies. This, in turn, will vary between centres and individual clinicians, on the basis of both case mix and experience. However, the authors' analysis suggests that, if over 40% of arthroscopies are avoided through additional use of MRI in all patients, then there will be potential cost savings to the NHS. For a 'typical' district with 60% avoidable arthroscopies, this saving could reach £100,000 if it is possible to target MRI usage to 70% of patients. Given much lower rates of avoidable arthroscopy, around 5%, then the blanket use of MRI would increase annual costs by around £70,000.

1. INTRODUCTION

Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) has fast become a leading medical technology allowing non-invasive diagnostic imaging of many parts of the body, including the musculo-skeletal regions. Its use in the diagnostic investigation of acute and chronic knee injury/disorder is well documented and supported in the published literature.^{1,2,3} There are now increasing pressures to move towards an MRI based pre-screening diagnostic process, rather than relying solely on the diagnostic results of arthroscopy. This is particularly relevant in cases where diagnosis remains uncertain despite a thorough clinical examination. It is widely believed that, if adopted as a supportive diagnostic step, MRI scanning could avoid a significant proportion of those arthroscopies which result in either negative findings, or where therapeutic surgical intervention is not required. Some clinicians argue further for a blanket coverage of MRI pre-screening for all knee injuries as part of the diagnostic process. However, many orthopaedic surgeons believe that a thorough clinical examination, performed by an experienced clinician, can produce clear indications for surgical intervention in many cases. The published literature reflects these differences in opinion with regard to the benefits and role of MRI scanning for knee disorders.

A previous Wessex DEC report considered the evidence and potential role of MRI scanning in the diagnosis of knee disorders.⁴ This review concluded that MRI would only be cost saving if more than 50% of arthroscopies were truly avoidable (i.e. were only diagnostic in nature and resulted in no therapeutic element). The report indicated, however, that this break-even point could be influenced by the relative costs of MRI and arthroscopy at a local level. It also highlighted that the inclusion of patient-borne costs would work strongly in favour of MRI, with reduced impact of in-patient stays and recovery times from surgery. The report recommended the use of MRI scanning for a sub-set of selective cases:

•	sus
pected meniscal lesions;	
•	
	unu
sual signs/symptoms;	
•	
	pati
ents with high surgical risk;	

•	areas of difficulty for arthroscopy (posterior horn of
menisci);	
•	persistent symptoms after negative arthroscopy.

Since the publication of the Wessex report in 1993, there has been a continued debate around the precise role of MRI scanning in the diagnostic process, the numbers of patients who are likely to benefit, the patient benefits that may be achievable, the number of potentially avoided arthroscopies and the overall relative cost impact that MRI may represent. A number of additional reviews and trials have also been published, allowing the diagnostic accuracy and management impact of MRI to be assessed further.

This Guidance Note revisits this literature evidence base comparing MRI with arthroscopy in the specific diagnosis of meniscal tears and cruciate ligament damage. The objective is to address the following research questions, all relating to the impact of MRI scanning on the effective management of knee disorder:

- 1. Issues related to the diagnostic performance of MRI:
- How accurate is MRI when compared to clinical diagnosis alone?
- How accurate is clinical examination in diagnosing knee disorder? Is it sufficient alone?
- Can low field strength machines produce a diagnostic accuracy that is comparable to high field strength machines?
- 2. Issues related to the influence of MRI on patient management:
 - Can MRI prevent arthroscopies?
 - Can MRI reduce the waiting list for surgery?
- 3. What is the likely impact of MRI on patient outcome?
- 4. What are the cost and benefit implications of adopting MRI scanning?
- 5. Is there any recommended sub-set of patients for which MRI is more appropriate?

1.1 Scope of Knee Injuries

The knee is the largest joint in the body and sits between the tibia and femur. The main meniscal and cruciate structures within the knee joint are represented in Figure 1 (and also in Appendix A: Lateral/Medial Views of the Knee Joint)

Figure 1 Meniscal/Cruciate Structures of the Knee



Ant = anterior; Post = posterior; MM = medial meniscus; LM = lateral meniscus; ACL = anterior cruciate ligament; PCL = posterior cruciate ligament; P = popliteus tendon; H/W = meniscofemoral ligament

- * The menisci are semi-lunar fibrocartilage structures which perform a load bearing and distribution function within the knee. They also act as a shock absorber, providing a secondary stabilisation alongside the ACL. The two structures, medial and lateral, are attached to each other via the meniscal ligament and are seen at MRI as a typical bow-tie or double triangle darkened image.
- * The ACL travels upwards and backwards within the knee, both preventing hyper-extension of the joint and assuring rotary control and, as such, performs a primary stabilising function.
- * The PCL is a shorter, but thicker, ligament structure located at the rear of the knee and, as such, is more difficult to access surgically at arthroscopy. As the PCL is stronger than the ACL, injuries are less common and are typically associated with high energy injury mechanisms.
- * The medial and lateral collateral ligaments also perform a stabilising role and can be partially or fully torn following trauma.
- * The articular cartilage also acts as a shock absorber.

Injuries to the structures within the knee are collectively referred to as 'derangement of the knee' and are covered within the ICD-10 codes as M23, and ICD-9 as 717.^{5,6} Within this general diagnosis, disorders break down into the following specific types:

- medial meniscus tears;
- medial collateral ligament tears (MCL);
- articular cartilage damage;
- anterior cruciate ligaments (ACL) lesions;
- posterior cruciate ligaments (PCL) lesions;
- lateral meniscus tears;
- lateral collateral ligament tears (LCL);
- meniscal cysts;
- cysts of semilunar cartilage;
- loose bodies.

There also exist a number of other types of knee disorder, such as, unicompartmental arthritis, congenital disease and bone deformations, for which MRI scanning may provide some benefit. However, for the purpose of this report we have focused on the evidence related to the more common forms of knee derangement, as identified above. Injuries to the menisci or cruciate ligaments represent the majority of knee disorders and would, therefore, be expected to have the largest impact in terms of potential MRI activity and cost. (See Table 1).

Knee Structure	Proportion (%)	Patients p.a.
Menisci/ Loose Bodies	50	400
ACL	25	200
PCL	5	40
MCL/LCL	20	160
Total for an Average	100	800
Referral Centre		

 Table 1
 Typical Breakdown of Presenting Knee Injuries

Source : (Northern General Hospital Sheffield)

1.2 Epidemiology of Knee Disorder

It is very difficult to provide exact measures of the annual incidence rates for these types of disorder. The Wessex DEC report⁴ suggested that, based on national records of hospital inpatient episode (HIPE), an incidence rate of 3.4 per 10,000 should be expected per year. This analysis used ICD-9 (717) coding to define the disorder type. A more recent examination of Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) 1994-95 reveals that 40,704 finished consultant episodes (FCEs) related to knee derangement in England. For Trent the

published figure is 4,284 FCEs. In an updated search of the Trent Patient Information System (PIS) 1996-97 data, consideration was given to all in-patient episodes marked with an ICD-10 (M23) 'Internal derangement of the knee' coding. The data identifies 4,041 knee injured patients, involved in 4,202 day-case or in-patient episodes, equating to an underlying annual incidence rate of 8.6 patients per 10,000 population. Knee derangement as a primary diagnosis accounted for 3,725 of the 4,202 episodes identified. The diagnosis codes clearly show that meniscal injury is the most common cause of knee derangement (See Table 2).

ICD-10	Description Primar		nary
M23		No	%
.0	cystic	42	1
.1	meniscus (congenital)	9	0
.2	meniscal derangement (old tear/injury)	1,798	48
.3	meniscal derangement other	522	14
.4	loose body in knee	246	7
.5	chronic instability of knee	98	3
.6	spontaneous disruption of ligaments	133	4
.8	laxity of ligament / snapping of knee	744	20
.9	unspecified derangement	133	4
M23.*	internal derangement of the knee	3,725	100

 Table 2
 Trent PIS - Breakdown of Primary Diagnosis Codes

Source : Trent PIS 1996/97 data

The problem with both these estimates is that some patients will undoubtedly be treated as out-patients only and escape recording. Also, there are problems in the consistency of coding of episodes across patient records generally. Therefore, it is likely that these estimates are conservative.

The 1991 Morbidity Statistics from General Practice estimate that 32 per 10,000 population per annum consult their GP with knee disorders, generating on average 1.5 consultations per person.⁷ This is almost four times the level of recorded in-patient activity. Almost 80% of these patients are new consultations rather than presenting with ongoing chronic problems. Some of these patients will be managed solely by the GP, whilst some will be referred either to orthopaedic surgeons for investigation or the GPs themselves may request an MRI scan. These figures re-enforce the likelihood of the in-patient data representing an under-estimate of the true incidence.

Using the recent Trent PIS data as a measure of annual incidence, around 430 knee derangement patients are expected to present to secondary care per annum for a 'typical' health authority of 500,000 population. These patients would undergo some form of diagnostic procedure (clinical diagnosis, arthroscopy, MRI), which may lead to a later surgical therapeutic intervention.

1.3 Current Diagnostic Services for Knee Injuries

The diagnosis of knee injuries is currently based around three modes of approach:

- thorough clinical examination (typically conducted by an orthopaedic surgeon);
- arthroscopy (surgical visualisation of the disorder);
- MRI scan (non invasive imaging of the knee joint).

<u>*Clinical Examination*</u>: With many knee disorders a definite diagnosis is possible after careful consideration of the clinical history and a thorough external clinical examination of the patient. Patients can then be moved on to appropriate management which may involve therapeutic arthroscopy, where indicated, or may be based on non-surgical approaches._

<u>Arthroscopy</u>: There exists a smaller, but significant, proportion of disorders where diagnosis, based on clinical examination alone, can remain inconclusive. In such cases a typical approach has been to conduct an arthroscopy, in order to take an internal view of the knee. Arthroscopy can confirm the existence and severity of the disorder and treatment of the disorder can often be conducted immediately, avoiding a second therapeutic intervention. This benefits the patient in terms of avoided pain and general inconvenience.

However, there are associated patient risks with such a surgical procedure. Estimates of arthroscopy-related infection rates vary between 0.47%⁸ and 3%⁹, depending on the exact definition of severity. There are also associated risks from the use of general anaesthesia itself, which rise with the age of the patient. Second arthroscopies can also be necessary where the nature of the disorder reveals a need for general anaesthetic, or where symptoms persist. There is also a sub-set of patients in whom arthroscopy reveals injuries that are likely to heal without the need for surgical intervention. Finally, there is the possibility of injuries remaining hidden to arthroscopy.

<u>MRI Scanning</u>: In cases of non-therapeutic, or diagnostic arthroscopy, the surgical procedure could potentially have been avoided, if an initial MRI scan had identified

accurately such patients. This appears to be particularly true of the posterior third of the menisci with PCL injuries difficult to visualise at arthroscopy. Also, MRI has the potential to identify patients where arthroscopically negative findings mask a hidden disorder.

For these reasons MRI scanning of the knee joint, supplementing a thorough clinical examination, has become an increasingly common diagnostic approach. This may be particularly true if an orthopaedic surgeon has limited experience of treating knee disorders. The effectiveness of MRI depends heavily on the likely proportion of patients who would, without its use, undergo an unnecessary arthroscopy. Both failure to identify a disorder (false-negatives) and the suggestion of a disorder where none is present (false-positives) will also have impact in terms of patient care and overall cost-effectiveness.

1.4 Description of MRI Scanning

MRI is non-invasive and does not use ionising radiation (See Table 3). The patient is placed in a strong static magnetic field, causing hydrogen protons to align with the field. The tissues are then exposed to pulsed radio-waves. Emitted signals can be detected and used to construct an image.¹⁰ MRI scanners are produced with a variety of magnetic field strengths. Field strengths are measured in a unit called the Tesla (T), and machines range from 0.2 to 2.0T. High field strength systems have the greatest range of imaging capabilities, but many mid-field scanners of 0.5-1.0T can provide excellent performance at a much reduced cost. The following provides a brief overview of the pros and cons of MRI scanning and imaging techniques.

<u>Pr</u>	Pros		
٠	It is non-invasive.		
٠	MRI does not involve exposure to ionising radiation and has no known significant clinical side effects. ^{11,12}		
٠	Magnetic resonance images can be acquired with equal clarity in any orientation: axial, sagittal, coronal or oblique.		
٠	MRI does not require the injection of contrast medium in most situations.		
٠	Soft tissue contrast is better with MRI than other techniques.		
•	MRI without contrast can be done during pregnancy, if necessary.		
٠	Paramagnetic contrast agents are safer than the iodinated contrast agents used with computed tomography (CT),		
	although both are contraindicated in pregnancy.		
•	For spine/joints, the image quality is superior to that which is achieved with traditional invasive techniques. ^{11,12}		
<u>C</u>	ons de la constante de la const		
٠	MRI requires more patient co-operation than CT.		
٠	MRI cannot be used for some people because of the powerful magnetic field. Pacemakers, many cerebral aneurysm		
	clips, intraocular metal and cochlear implants are definite contraindications to MRI. Other vascular clips, vena cava		
	filters, and most metallic implants require individual patient consultation. ¹³		
٠	Most MRI scanners require the patient to be positioned in a tunnel within the magnet housing. Claustrophobic		
	patients may refuse to undergo the procedure. Evidence suggests that between 1% and 10% of patients experience		
	panic and claustrophobic responses. ^{14,15}		
٠	MRI shows incidental anatomical abnormalities that can be misinterpreted as causing a patient's symptoms, e.g.		
	incidental spinal column abnormalities whose prevalence increases with age. ⁸		
٠	Magnetic resonance scanners are costly to install and operate.		
•	The long-term effect of magnetic fields is not known.		

Table 3MRI Scanning - Pros and Cons

The main imaging techniques adopted when conducting MRI investigation of the knee are listed below in Table 4 in a summary form. 3,10,16,17

Technique	Abbr.	Description
Spin echo sequences	SE	Traditional form of MRI knee investigation varying proton density, T1
		and T2 times to visualise different tissue forms.
Fast spin sequences	FSE	Produces similar but faster images to SE, with more blurring of fine
		detail at shorter T2.
Gradient echo sequences	GE-2D	Again faster images than SE, but less resolution.
Gradient echo sequences	GE-3D	Very high resolution image which can be manipulated on screen in any
		plane, however, time consuming.
Fat suppression techniques	-	Help focus on high signal intensity areas.
T2 relaxation time	T2	Time taken for the strength of signal to decay.
T1 relaxation time	T1	Time taken for the protons to align.

Table 4Glossary of MRI Techniques

2. MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING IN THE MANAGEMENT OF KNEE DISORDERS: SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE OF EFFECTIVENESS

2.1 Search Strategy

In identifying the evidence of effectiveness, papers/studies covered by the following standard data sources were considered:

- Medline
 EmBASE
 BIDS
- Cochrane
 CRD DARE
 CRD NEED

The period 1984 - July 1998 was focused on in a search for both reviews and published studies covering both diagnostic accuracy and performance of MRI and its potential impact in terms of patient management decisions. The original Wessex report acted as a source of literature references, covering a period up to, and including, 1993.⁴ In considering the literature review, particular attention was placed on the time period post-1996 as this period had not been within the scope of the identified systematic reviews.

2.2 Diagnostic Performance Indicators

In considering the performance of any diagnostic procedure, it is important to clarify the exact measures by which new and existing technologies are to be judged. The following provides a definition for sensitivity, specificity, and positive/negative predictive value of a diagnostic test - in this case the focus is on knee disorder as an example.

Diagnostic Test Result	Disord	ler Status	Total
	Present		
Positive	а	b	a+b
Negative	С	d	c+d
Total	a+c	b+d	a+b+c+d

Table 5	Diagnostic Performance	Indicators
---------	-------------------------------	------------

a = true positive; b = false positive; c = false negative; d = true negative

Performance Statistic	<u>Calculation</u>	<u>Definition</u>
Sensitivity	a / (a+c)	Indicates the probability of testing
		positive if disorder is present.
Specificity	d / (b+d)	Indicates the probability of testing
		negative if disorder is not present.
Positive predictive value (PPV)	a / (a+b)	Indicates the probability of disorder
		present if test is positive.
Negative predictive value	d / (c+d)	Indicates the probability of no
(NPV)		disorder present if test is negative.
Accuracy	(a+d)/(a+b+c+d)	Indicates the probability of the results
		of the test (+ or -) being correct.

NB: Both PPV and NPV are strongly influenced by the prevalence of the disorder or disease under investigation. If the condition is rare, the test may have high NPV whilst still being a poor test in terms of its accuracy.

2.3 Evidence of Diagnostic Accuracy

2.3.1 Arthroscopy as a 'Gold Standard'

The reference standard by which MRI of the knee has been generally measured is that of arthroscopy. This implies that arthroscopy is 100% accurate, having a sensitivity and specificity of 1 (i.e. it enables visualisation and evaluation of all lesions). However, this is clearly not always the case and some knee injuries can certainly remain hidden to diagnostic arthroscopy, i.e. the sensitivity is actually lower than $1.^{9,18,19,20}$ Overall accuracy for arthroscopy has been commonly quoted as being somewhere between 0.7 and 1, depending on the experience of the arthroscopist, with arthroscopy providing a correct + or - diagnosis in between 70-100% of cases.^{21,22,23}

One reason for variation in diagnostic performance is that results of arthroscopy depend very much on the individual skill of the surgeon. A knee specialist would be expected to achieve better outcomes than a generalist orthopaedic surgeon. (There is also a parallel issue of radiologist expertise in interpretations of MRI scans). An important issue relates to the practical problems associated with accessing the deeper internal structures of the knee, in particular the posterior regions. Whilst different access portals can be used in combination with improved arthroscopy techniques, 'hidden areas' almost certainly still remain.^{24 25} It has been reported that the false-positive rate of MRI was 6% when compared

with arthroscopy conducted by knee specialists and 16% when arthroscopy was conducted by general orthopaedic surgeons.²⁶ Such false-positive results would typically result in negative arthroscopies. This highlights the parallel diagnostic inaccuracies of MRI and this issue is addressed in later discussion points.

Despite the potential for missing a small proportion of disorders, it is against arthroscopy as a standard diagnostic modality that the potential role of MRI must be evaluated practically. The vast majority of studies considering MRI scanning for knee disorder use arthroscopy as a 'gold standard' and these issues of comparability must be remembered.

2.3.2 Clinical Examination vs. Diagnostic Investigation

Whilst many radiologists and clinicians claim that MRI can add value and influence clinical diagnosis and management, others remain sceptical and see no added diagnostic advantage to conducting MRI scans. In many cases of knee disorder it is very likely that clinical examination alone will be sufficient to reach a reliable diagnosis and for the surgical/non-surgical management of the disorder to be planned accordingly. However, for other presentations of knee disorder and injury, there remains controversy about the strength of clinical assessment in diagnosis of knee problems. The accuracy of clinical diagnosis is strongly correlated to clinical expertise of knee disorders. A number of studies have been published which attempt to evaluate the diagnostic accuracy of clinical examination compared to a blinded, or independent, MRI scan. (See Appendix B). The research question remains: 'How accurate is clinical examination in diagnosing knee disorder, and is it sufficient alone?'

In a commonly quoted study, Fowler et al.²⁷ considered the value of clinical signs for meniscal tears in a study of 161 patients with a proven history of knee pain. Comparing standard clinical tests (McMurray, flexion pinch, Apley grind, joint extension tenderness, extension block) with findings at arthroscopy, the authors concluded that clinical diagnosis had limitations when considering and confirming meniscal lesions.²⁷

A following audit conducted by Boeree et al.⁹ involving 203 patients, suggested that physical signs proved insufficiently sensitive in detecting menisci and cruciate abnormalities. Patients were seen by orthopaedic consultants 'with a particular interest in knee surgery'. The study suggests that clinical examination alone would be expected to miss approximately 30% of medial meniscus tears, 70-75% of lateral meniscus tears and over 30% of ruptured ligaments. However, the authors also noted a high level of unneccesary arthroscopies

(following diagnosis using MRI). This was particularly true in cases of 'suspected' meniscal tears linked with ACL injuries. Overall, the authors concluded that reliance upon clinical judgement alone, compared to additional investigations via MRI, would have resulted in an 89% increase in arthroscopic procedures. These findings are closely supported in a further study by Boden et al.²⁸.

In a recent prospective blinded comparison with MRI, clinical examination was found to have a diagnostic accuracy of only 44% in cases of meniscal tears.²⁹ There was a high level of false-positives, with a specificity as low as 6%. Diagnostic performance was much improved under a blinded MRI scan with specificity of 75% and accuracy of 79%. The sensitivity of clinical examination for meniscal tears was very high at 100%.

Yoon et al.³⁰ evaluated the accuracy of clinical evaluation alone in a prospective study in 200 knee injuries. Approximately 50% of cases were found to have more than one lesion. Importantly, although correct diagnosis was made in 70% of cases where only a single lesion was present, cases of multiple lesions had a drastically reduced diagnostic accuracy of 23-48%, with the number of lesions related to poorer diagnosis. The results of clinical examination indicate that ACL injuries are difficult to assess accurately with a sensitivity of almost 80% (i.e. 20% of injuries are missed with clinical examination alone). The authors also identified a significant relationship (p<0.01) between partial ACL tears and the risk of being recorded as a false-negative or missed disorder.

A number of further review papers reflect on the limitations of clinical diagnosis alone as an indication for surgical intervention.^{2,3,31}

However, there are contrasting views which are more positive about clinical examination alone as a diagnostic process. These studies are generally conducted in the setting of sports injury clinics, possibly reflecting more experience of knee surgery and, as such, reflect a more accurate performance from clinical examination.

In a study of 206 patients Terry et al.³² showed that the results of clinical assessment were comparable or superior to published reports of arthrography, Computed Tomography (CT) and MRI. The authors concluded that a thorough clinical assessment can provide sufficient information for the surgeon to make a definitive primary pre-operative diagnosis, and that arthroscopy should not be performed without a complete pre-operative examination.

14

A recent prospective study (Gelb et al.)³³ evaluated the clinical value of MRI of the knee in 72 patients in a sports medicine referral practice. This study showed that clinical evaluation had a sensitivity and specificity of 100% for diagnosis of anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injuries, whereas MRI was 95% sensitive and 88% specific. For isolated meniscal lesions, the clinical assessment had a sensitivity and specificity of 91% compared with 82% and 87% respectively for MRI. For evaluation of articular surface damage, the positive predictive value was 100% for clinical assessment and 33% for the MRI. The authors conclude that clinical assessment equals, or surpasses, MRI in accuracy. They also claim that MRI is overused in the evaluation of knee disorders and is not a cost-effective method for evaluating disorders when compared with the results of a skilled examiner.

Miller et al.³⁴ conducted a single-blinded study in 57 patients with suspected meniscal tears in order to compare the diagnostic performance of MRI against clinical examination, using arthroscopy as a standard reference. Blinded MRI (i.e. with no knowledge of the clinical examination) was found to produce very similar results to clinical examination alone, when considering meniscal tears.

Muellner et al.³⁵ also report on a similarly blinded series of 36 athletes who faced clinical examination and MRI scan independently. The series showed that both MRI and clinical examination predicted meniscal lesions with an 89% accuracy rate.

Conclusion

It is difficult to draw definite conclusions from such a broad range of studies. Overall, it is clear that MRI is certainly not a substitute for a thorough clinical examination and should only be considered as an addition to an initial clinical diagnosis.

It would also appear that in many sports injury clinics, the results of a skilled examiner equal or surpass those of MRI. This most likely reflects an increased experience of knee injury surgery, as compared to that of a general orthopaedic surgeon. It is also possibly a reflection of the type/severity of disorders faced by such clinics. Therefore, it is likely that the use of MRI would be most appropriate as an addition to clinical examination when conducted by general orthopaedic surgeons.

2.3.3 MRI vs Arthroscopy

There have been numerous published studies, designed to evaluate the diagnostic power of MRI in identifying knee disorders. As previously discussed, the vast majority of these studies

15

compare the findings of MRI scanning to those of follow-up arthroscopies, i.e. they use arthroscopy as a 'gold standard' reference point. The research question remains: *"How accurate is MRI when compared with arthoscopy?"*

In considering the effectiveness for MRI there are a number of challenges in making valid comparisons and contrasts across study data.

1. Lack of Study Blinding, Leading to Over Estimates of Diagnostic Performance

It is a fact that very few of the earlier studies are truly double-blinded in nature. If a surgeon is made aware of previous clinical diagnosis/MRI results this may lead him to conduct a more thorough surgical examination, improving the accuracy of arthroscopy. Likewise, an unblinded radiologist may identify more lesions from an MRI scan than may have been the case. Lack of blinding is likely to lead to overestimation of the performance of either diagnostic approach. Blinding provides a much more clinically realistic view of diagnostic performance.

2. Variation in Strength and Techniques of MRI Between Studies

The studies vary in terms of the MRI field strength and techniques adopted. In principle, a higher powered system should provide clearer images and lead to an improved performance. However, this issue is still under debate in the literature.

3. Variation in the Skills of the Radiologists/Surgeon

The individual skill and experience of the clinician will affect the performance of both the MRI and the arthroscopy in formulating a diagnosis.

4. Variation in the Case Mix of Disorder Leading to Bias in Lesion Prevalence

It is also true that most of the studies involve patients with specific disorder types, mostly meniscal tears and/or ACL lesions, rather than a general representative case mix of patients. The selection criteria for studies plays a major role in influencing the end-points. If patients are selected only if they have already had arthroscopy (retrospective studies) or who show clinical indications for arthroscopy (prospective studies), then potential bias will be evident with more lesions than would typically be the case. This makes the evaluation of specificity difficult as the majority will have lesions present.

Despite these problems in comparing and contrasting the results of diagnostic performance studies, it is still possible to comment on the comparative accuracy of MRI and arthroscopy. There have been a number of recently published reviews which have critically appraised and summarised the evidence of diagnostic accuracy for MRI scanning.

Boeve et al. 1991

Boeve et al.³⁶ analysed 10 published studies in 1991, comparing MRI and arthroscopy in the detection of meniscal and anterior cruciate ligament tears. Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value and negative predictive value for medial meniscus tears, lateral meniscus tears and anterior cruciate ligament tears were either obtained or calculated from each article. The authors concluded the combination of high negative predictive value and high sensitivity for MRI suggests that diagnostic arthroscopic surgery is not necessary in the evaluation of patients with negative MRI studies.

MacKenzie et al. 1996

More recently Mackenzie et al.²³ considered the published diagnostic performance statistics for MRI in cases of menisci and cruciate ligament injury. The authors reviewed 22 studies, (2 double blinded, 10 single blinded), all of more than 35 patients and identified over a timeperiod covering 1983-1994. All studies provided arthroscopic confirmation of MRI findings and presented sufficiently detailed results to allow recalculation of performance statistics and confidence intervals. Studies were restricted to English language text only. Importantly, the authors raise the issue of confidence intervals around performance statistics, and the fact that such information was found in only two of the 22 identified studies. Mackenzie et al. recalculated the confidence intervals for all studies before summing and averaging the results as an overall assessment of diagnostic accuracy (See Table 6).

On the basis of this evidence, the authors concluded that MRI of the menisci and ACL/PCL appeared to be fairly accurate in correctly assessing both the presence and absence of injury/disorder. The summary statistics suggest that the least sensitive application of MRI was in the diagnosis of lateral meniscal tears.

Anatomical Region		Overall	MRI F	Results	6	Sensitivity		Sensitivity Specificity			Accuracy		
	n	TP	TN	FP	FN	(%)	95% C.I.	(%)	95% C.I.	(%)	95% C.I.		
Medial meniscus	2,104	1,039	82	153	830	93	91-94	84	82-87	89	97-90		
Lateral Meniscus	2,095	379	117	91	1,508	76	73-80	94	93-95	90	89-91		
Both Menisci	982	372	45	43	522	89	86-92	92	90-95	91	89-93		
ACL	2,076	408	50	90	1,528	89	86-92	94	93-96	93	92-94		
PCL	1,360	44	3	9	1,304	94	86-10	99	99-10	99	99-10		
Total	8,617	2,242	297	386	5,692	88	87-90	94	93-94	92	91-93		

 Table 6
 MRI Diagnostic Accuracy (MacKenzie Review)

NB : TP = True positive; TN = True negative; FP = False positive; FN = False negative

Details of the individual study results can be found in Appendix C.

Rappeport et al. 1996

In a similar review of diagnostic accuracy Rappeport et al.¹⁹ considered 20 studies, published during the period 1986-1995 and involving more than 40 patients. Only four were assessed as true prospective double-blinded studies. Again, studies were restricted to MRI findings validated against follow-up arthroscopy. The review provides details of diagnostic performance for meniscal tears, ACL, PCL and articular cartilage injuries.

Overall, Rappeport et al. concluded that the published studies supported the hypothesis that MRI is equal to the diagnostic performance of arthroscopy in cases of injury in the major knee structures, as listed above. There are also additional advantages in term of providing information on sites hidden to traditional arthroscopy.

Table 7	MRI Diagnostic Accuracy	(Rappeport Review)
		· · · · · /

Anatomical Region	Sensitiv	vity	Specif	icity	Accuracy		
	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	
Menisci	71-100%	85%	65-100%	90%	72-93%	90%	
ACL	61-100%	95%	80-100%	95%	82-98%	93%	
PCL (low incidence)	100%	100%	98-100%	99%	na	na	
Articular cartilage	18-100%	-	50-100%	-	68-98%	85%	

NB : Where studies were clustered around or above clear vales these have been shown

Details of the individual study results can be found in Appendix C.

Later Diagnostic Performance Studies (1996-1998)

Both MacKenzie and Rappeport provide good semi-systematic reviews of the current literature covering the decade prior to 1996. However, there have been a number of key studies published since this date. It is important to include these studies as the pace of improving technology means that the accuracy of MRI should be expected to improve over time. The rigour of the studies may also be improved in terms of blinding of clinicians and patient inclusion criteria.

The literature search process employed for this Guidance Note identified eight such studies, all of which made a direct comparison of MRI scans to subsequent arthroscopic examination (See Appendix C). These studies reflected a range of different MRI field strengths, surgical experience and settings. Overall, they appear to confirm the general accuracy of MRI scanning. However, some of the series are reported from more specialist clinics and show similar levels of diagnostic accuracy to clinical examination alone.

Conclusions

In cases of suspected meniscal tears diagnostic performance levels of MRI appear high, although most studies confirm a lower sensitivity in cases of lateral meniscal disorder.

In cases of ACL disorder the sensitivity of MRI regularly exceeds 90%, with some studies reporting a 100% sensitivity (i.e. all positive cases were identified by MRI). With similar levels of specificity reported, (> 90%) MRI appears to provide a good assessment of ACL disorders.

It is a fact that PCL injuries are seen in far less numbers than other knee disorders. This is mainly due to the amount of energy required to cause such a tear to a major knee structure. As such, the number of studies which specifically identified PCL disorder were greatly reduced. Although sensitivity and specificity levels of 98-100% suggest a high level of accuracy, the low prevalence brings more uncertainty into the interpretation of these results. It appears that, with this caveat in mind, MRI is a very effective diagnostic tool in the case of PCL disorders.

Finally, sensitivity and specificity for articular cartilage injuries were noted across a wide range (50-100%) with one outlier study reporting sensitivity levels of 18%. Rappeport et al.

19

concluded that MRI was likely to be beneficial in the surgical management of patients with more severe cases of cartilage damage.

Overall, the evidence would seem to suggest that MRI provided an equivalent diagnostic performance to arthroscopy in cases of meniscal and cruciate disorder.

2.3.4 Low vs High Field Strength MRI Systems

As well as studies investigating the relative merits of MRI compared to arthroscopy, there is also debate regarding the comparative quality of low and high field strength MRI machines. The advantage of low field strength MRI systems is that they are less expensive, in terms of the initial investment, and also that the use of dedicated small-joint systems may represent a more flexible and potentially user-friendly resource. The research question remains: *'Can low field strength machines produce a diagnostic accuracy that is comparable to high field strength machines?'*

In publishing their own series of low field MRI performance statistics, Rappeport et al.³⁷ concluded that there was no proven major difference between the performance of high, medium and low strength MRI systems in knee disorders on the basis of previously published double blinded trials (see Table 8 and Figure 2). Similarly MacKenzie et al.²³ could not identify any significant differences in accuracy rates when comparing results from studies using either low or high field strength MRI systems (ranging between 0.064T-1.5T).

Year	Reference	Double	Field		Medial		Lateral			ACL		
		Blinded	Strength	Mer	niscus	s (%)	Meniscus (%)			(%)		
			(Tesla)	Se	Sp	Acc	Se	Sp	Acc	Se	Sp	Acc
1992	D'erme et al. ³⁸	Yes	0.006	92	86	85	-	-	100	80	82	-
1994	Kinnunen et al. ³⁹	Yes	0.100	88	80	82	25	97	88	83	85	85
1992	Grevitt et al. ⁴⁰		0.200	92	90	91	88	98	96	100	80	82
1995	Kersting-Sommerhoff et al.41	Yes	0.200	73	76	75	33	98	85	95	87	90
		Yes	1.500	87	87	85	44	94	90	86	87	85
1989	Glashow et al. ⁴²	Yes	0.350	77	71	74	93	94	94	61	82	72
1989	Barronian et al.43	Yes	0.350	88	72	78	-	-	-	-	-	-
1991	Raunest et al.44	Yes	1.500	94	37	72	78	69	72	-	-	-
1993	Spiers et al. ³¹	Yes	1.500	100	71	-	100	-	92	100	98	-
1997	Rappeport et al. ³⁷	Yes	0.100	86	73	77	40	98	91	89	97	96

 Table 8
 Diagnostic Performance of MRI by Field Strength (Rappeport Review)

NB : Se = sensitivity; Sp = specificity; Acc = Accuracy



Figure 2 Diagnostic Performance of MRI by Field Strength

A number of other more recent field strength studies exist which all conclude that low-field strength MRI is comparable to standard high-strength systems. These studies are detailed in Appendix D.

Franklin et al.⁴⁵ considered the merits of dedicated in-office MRI systems, where field strength (0.2T) is much lower than the fixed MRI systems (1.5T) traditionally used in knee diagnostic studies. In total 35 patients were evaluated by MRI-ARTOSCAN, all of whom had a subsequent arthroscopy. In a larger prospective study of 210 patients, Kersting-Sommerhoff et al.⁴¹ also considered the diagnostic accuracy of an MRI-ARTOSCAN system. Barnett et al.⁴⁶ compared the scan findings of 118 patients at 0.5T MRI with similar data from 11 recently published 1.5T MRI studies. All three studies concluded comparable sensitivity, specificity and accuracy when compared with published rates for high field strength machines of 1.5T.

In a prospective study of 22 patients, Kladny et al.⁴⁷ evaluated a 1.5T MRI system against a lower field strength machine of 0.2T. Although the results were slightly lower in terms of specificity for meniscal tears, the authors concluded that both systems provided high levels of accuracy in diagnosing knee disorders. A similar prospective double-blind study of 33 patients found that the performance of 0.1T MRI in lesions of medial meniscus, lateral meniscus, anterior cruciate tears and posterior cruciate tears equalled that for high field strength MRI, the only exception being the sensitivity for lateral meniscus lesions.³⁹ Passariello et al.⁴⁸ report on three years' experience of using a dedicated MRI system in the

evaluation of small joint disorder including knee. They claim high levels of accuracy when compared to reported results of high strength machines and reflect on the lower unit costs of a dedicated system.

Parizel et al.⁴⁹ studied prospectively 10 subjects showing image quality and diagnostic performance, as assessed by four radiologists, to be equivalent for both 0.2T and 1.5T systems. The authors concluded that a low field system is a cost-effective alternative with a 40% reduction in operating costs.

Conclusion

The results suggest that MRI field strength is not a significant determinant of diagnostic reliability for MRI assessment of internal derangement of the knee. Therefore, it seems that low field strength machines can produce a diagnostic accuracy and image quality that is comparable to high field strength machines. The advantage is that operating costs likely to be up to 40% less in lower strength machines. Obviously, if existing high field machines are already in operation, providing enough capacity for other joint diagnostic work, then the economic advantage would be different. Whilst the findings remain consistent with supportive expert opinion, criticisms can be levelled as some sample sizes are rather small, and the quality of the methodology is not always robust.

2.3.5 Abnormal Findings in Asymptomatic Subjects

Several studies have investigated the prevalence of abnormal findings in asymptomatic subjects when carrying out an MRI scan, in order to consider and identify the level of specificity in MRI scanning of knee disorder. If specificity is low, then false-positive tests may result in unnecessary arthroscopies.

Boden et al.²⁸ conducted a prospective and blinded study on 74 asymptomatic volunteers without history or symptoms of knee disorder. Overall, the MRI scan identified 16% of people as having abnormalities consistent with tears, this percentage increased with age to >36% in people aged over 45 years. The authors emphasised the importance of access to relevant clinical data when interpreting MRI scans of the knee.

Another study by LaPrade et al.⁵⁰ found that the prevalence of meniscal tears in asymptomatic knees was 5.6%. The authors recommend that clinicians match clinical signs and symptoms with MRI *before* instituting surgical treatment.

22

Again, it must be emphasised that a false-positive result from MRI may still, in a proportion of cases, represent actual injuries which remain hidden even after repeat arthroscopy.

2.4 Impact of MRI on Patient Management

Accurate diagnosis is not an end in itself and therapeutic impact also needs to be considered. There are many prospective studies in the literature demonstrating the high accuracy of knee MRI against an arthroscopic standard, but little is being written on whether this accuracy can influence patient management. Reflecting on the experience of MRI over the last decade, Dixon et al. highlight the potential of MRI to influence patient management in cases of uncertain diagnosis, which almost certainly result in diagnostic arthroscopy.²⁵ In cases where clinical examination provides clear indication of disorder, Dixon et al. argue that the role of MRI is less relevant. Table 9 summarises the results of studies designed to evaluate the impact of MRI on patient management.

Warwick et al.⁵¹ reported on the impact of MRI on the arthroscopy waiting list. MRI scans were performed on 155 patients who had been placed on a diagnostic arthroscopy waiting list for between 4-18 months previously. In total 32% of patients were removed from the waiting list, of whom 22% of the total were directly attributable to the results of the MRI. A total of 24 patients (15.5%) improved spontaneously. The proportion of patients on the arthroscopy waiting list who improved spontaneously has been reported previously by Hede et al.⁵² to be as high as 25%. Warwick et al.⁵¹ concluded that the use of MRI can reduce diagnostic arthroscopy, but that the ideal time for MRI and arthroscopy is not clear. They also felt that arthroscopy very soon after presentation might be unjustified in those patients who improve spontaneously. Also MRI itself soon after presentation may be misleading.

Mackenzie et al.²¹ conducted a prospective observational study on all patients referred to a regional unit for knee MRI over a six month period. The objective was to quantify how MRI influences clinicians' diagnoses, diagnostic confidence and management plans in patients with knee problems and to investigate whether these changes can bring about an improvement in health. The study revealed significant increases in clinicians' diagnostic confidence for both meniscal (z = -6.6, p<0.01) and ACL lesions (z = -2.1, p<0.05). For the medial meniscus, only 56 out of 113 pre-imaging diagnoses were retained. For the ACL, 35 diagnoses were made, but only 21 of these were still being considered after MRI. Most importantly, the study identified 62% (136 of 219) of originally planned arthroscopies that

23

were avoided after a re-evaluation of diagnosis using MRI scan. The authors concluded that MRI significantly influences clinicians' diagnosis and management plans.

In a year-long prospective audit of all arthroscopies of the knee, Birch et al.⁵³ studied 279 patients for whom the intended arthroscopy was categorised as diagnostic or therapeutic, dependent on pre-operative indications. The study indicated that selective MRI would be cost beneficial in up to 40% of patients, i.e. those with uncertain diagnosis. However, to achieve cost savings, at least 14% of patients, who would otherwise receive diagnostic arthroscopy, would need to be excluded from surgery.

Another study by Ruwe et al.⁵⁴ performed on 103 patients, aimed to determine whether MRI was cost saving and whether it reduced the need for diagnostic arthroscopy of the knee. In their study, 51.4% of patients avoided a potentially unnecessary diagnostic arthroscopy and there were net savings of 26% of the costs.

Carmichael et al.⁵⁵ reported on experience of four orthopaedic consultants. They experienced 324 arthroscopies and 66 MRI scans. Based on the experience of a knee surgery specialist, it was estimated that 37 out of 57 patients (>60%) avoided arthroscopy through MRI scanning.

Williams et al.⁵⁷ reports the results of an MRI study on 69 patients all of whom had been placed on an arthroscopy waiting list for meniscal tears. Following MRI interpretation by a team of five radiologists and a senior registrar, around 60% of patients were successfully removed from the waiting list, with 40% of patients indicated as never having needed to have been scheduled for arthroscopy.

Spiers et al.³¹ conducted a study involving 58 patients who had suspected derangement of the knee following a detailed clinical examination and consideration of patient details. All the patients had an initial MRI scan and subsequent arthroscopy. Using arthroscopy as a 'gold standard', it was estimated that 29% of arthroscopies could be avoided, for an overall 1.4% increase in costs. This, they argued, would be more than balanced by extra potential savings of freed surgical and theatre time.

Table 9	Potential Impact on F	Patient Management of	of MRI Scanning
---------	-----------------------	-----------------------	-----------------

Year	Reference	Setting	Design	Orth	Rad	n	Impact on Management
1997	Carmichael et al.55	UK	ret	3c	1c	324	65% reduction in arthroscopies
				1ks			
1996	Trieshmann et al. ⁵⁶	US	pro	-	5r	208	29% reduction in arthroscopies due to
							incorrect clinical diagnosis
							22% increase in arthroscopies due to
							incorrect clinical diagnosis
							64% reduction in arthroscopies for
							patients with acute symptoms of <8
							days duration
1996	Mackenzie et al. ²¹	UK	pro	11c	2r	288	62% of arthroscopies discharged or
							reviewed due to MRI
							21% new diagnosis due to MRI
1996	Williams et al.57	UK	pro	1sr	5r	58	40% reduction in waiting list
							60% reduction in arthroscopies
1994	Ruwe et al. ⁵⁸	US		-	-	103	57% reduction in arthroscopies
1994	Chissell et al. ⁵⁹	UK	ret	1c	1c	175	54% reduction in arthroscopies
1992	Ruwe et al. ⁵⁴	US	pro	20	Зr	103	51% reduction in arthroscopies
1991	Boeree et al. ⁹	UK	ret	c/ks	-	203	40-50% reduction in arthroscopies
1997	Maurer et al. ⁶⁰	US	pro	2ks	-	840	37% reduction in arthroscopies
1997	Weinstabl et al. ⁶¹	AUSTRIA	pro	-	-	201	30% unnecessary arthroscopies
1994	Birch et al. ⁵³	UK	pro	-	-	279	28% reduction in arthroscopies
1993	Spiers et al. ³¹	UK		-	-	58	29% reduction in arthroscopies
1993	Warwick et al. ⁵¹	UK	pro	-	2r	155	22% reduction in arthroscopies
1996	Gelb et al. ³³	US	pro	-	-	72	19% contribution to management
							4% change in diagnosis
							no reduction in arthroscopies
1990	Boden et al. ⁶²						13% reduction in arthroscopies

?=information not listed; pro=prospective; ret=retrospective; r=radiologist; c=consultant; sr=senior registrar; ks=knee surgeon

Conclusion

There are a moderate number of studies addressing whether the accuracy of MRI can influence patient management. Table 9 shows the reported impact of different studies ranging from <10% to 64% reductions in the number of conducted arthroscopies. However, the majority report between 30-50% reductions. It is difficult in all these studies to be clear on the precise patient group. Some studies describe patients as justifying diagnostic

arthroscopy, without clearly describing the reasons why. This is important when trying to interpret a proportional reduction. Other studies quote theoretical reductions in arthroscopy by assuming that if MRI had not been conducted, then arthroscopy would have followed. A search by the authors revealed very few studies which measured the impact of MRI on arthroscopy waiting lists.

The availability and quality of the case-series descriptive data does not allow us to examine the impact of MRI on patient management, on the basis of either surgical expertise or overall throughput. This level of analysis would be very informative, if possible.

2.5 Effect of MRI on Patient Outcomes

There is little evidence to support the hypothesis that the accurate diagnosis provided by MRI affects the overall quality of life of the patient. Hollingworth et al.⁶³ conducted an observational study to assess some aspects of the validity of the Rosser Index by comparing it with the SF-36 and the EuroQol. The three questionnaires were used to measure health change in 332 patients referred for MRI of the knee. SF-36 and EuroQol questionnaires recorded significant improvements in patients' health at six months. The authors concluded that MRI is associated with a positive impact on quality of life of patients with knee disorders. However, it will remain difficult to attribute such improvement to the use of MRI alone without a randomised trial.

Mackenzie et al.²¹ used an SF-36 to track patients' quality of life with an initial response rate of 87% and 62% for follow-up post imaging. Improvements in patients' self reported health status were noted, but could not be attributed to the use of MRI specifically.

Conclusion

The only conclusion the authors can reach is that more research in this area is necessary.
3. COST AND BENEFIT IMPLICATIONS OF ADOPTING INTERVENTION

3.1 Usage of MRI and Arthroscopy

Nationally, there has been a substantial growth in the utilisation of MRI, resulting in growing waiting lists. There is evidence in many parts of the country that imaging of the spine, head and knee accounts for the bulk of MRI investigations (See Table 10).

Area	%
Spine	39
Head	30
Knee	16
Other	15

Table 10The Major Uses of MRI Examinations in 1993

(Source: Survey of all MRI machines in Wales. Welsh Health Planning Forum Survey 1994.)

In a recent audit conducted in Nottingham, the percentage of MRI investigations on the knee was only around 3%. However, there is a general feeling among professionals that this percentage is increasing. Examples of the typical levels of service provision for MRI scanning of knee disorder within the Trent Region is detailed in Table 11. Waiting lists for MRI are typically six months and costs range between £130-£210.

Table 11	Trent MRI Usage for	Knee Investigations
----------	---------------------	---------------------

Examples of Trent Centres	No of Knee	Field Strength of	MRI	Waiting Time
	MRIs	MRI System	Cost	(weeks)
	p.a.			
Derbyshire Royal Infirmary	458	0.5T	£135	25-30
Sheffield - Northern General	380	1.5T	£185	26
Hospital/Central Sheffield				
University Hospitals				
Leicester Royal Infirmary	not known	1.0T	£207	26

Using patient information taken from the Trent PIS database consideration was given to the number of therapeutic/diagnostic arthroscopies conducted in patients with internal derangement of the knee (ICD10 - M23). The analysis was limited to cases where the primary procedure code indicated arthroscopy of the knee (See Table 12). The data clearly show that the majority of arthroscopies are therapeutic in nature with only 513 cases of

diagnostic arthroscopy. However, there are very substantial coding concerns here (i.e. are diagnostic arthroscopies entered correctly?).

Procedure	Episodes	Patients
All Arthroscopy	3,787	3,723
Diagnostic Arthroscopy	513	511
Therapeutic Arthroscopy only	3,274	3,212

Table 12 Trent PIS Arthroscopy for Knee Derangement

Table 13 shows the reported arthroscopy activity obtained directly from a number of orthopaedic centres within the Trent Region. The table presents data on diagnostic/therapeutic arthroscopy and also indicates the proportion of patients treated with general anaesthesia and as in-patients. However, the current data do not allow us to stratify by disorder type (meniscal, ACL etc). These data show that patients almost always have a general anaesthetic and are more likely to have a day-case than an in-patient stay. However, it is interesting to note the variation in the levels of arthoscopies identified as diagnostic in intent. Without a detailed analysis of cases it is difficult to draw any firn conclusions from this.

 Table 13
 Trent Arthroscopy Usage for Knee Derangement

Eamples of Regional Centres	N Arthr	o of Kneo oscopies	Anaest	thesia	Set	ting	Averag (£	e Cost 2)	Average Waiting time	
	Diag	Gen	Loc	Day In		Day	In	(mths)		
Derbyshire Royal	91	609	700	>95%	<5%	75%	25%	£375	£404	3-4
Infirmary	(13%)	(87%)								
Sheffield - Northern	343	301	644	-			53% 47%		£744	-
General Hospital	(53%)	(47%)								
Nottingham City	121 67 188		87%	13%	55%	45%	£661	£731	<6 (day)	
Hospital	(64%) (36%)								<12 (in)	

3.2 Costs of MRI and Arthroscopy

The typical costs of MRI scanning, identified through the sample of data from the Trent Region, clearly show a reasonably wide range between £135-207 (See Table 11). There have also been a number of published studies, both UK and US based, which have quoted typical MRI costs (See Table 14). The UK studies in particular cover a time period of 1993-1994, and appear to suggest a similar range to that of the Trent data.

By comparison, the UK published costs for arthroscopy (day-case) vary much more widely, ranging between £250-£600. Again a similar variation is seen in the Trent cost data (See Table 13).

US costs for both MRI and arthroscopy tend to be higher, by around three times, reflecting the inclusion of a broader cost base: physician, hospitalisation, etc. However, they also indicate a higher proportional cost of arthroscopy compared with MRI.

For the purpose of the cost analysis the cost of MRI was estimated to be £180, based on an averaging of costs as suggested by both Trent data and published studies. The cost of arthroscopy was estimated at £450, roughly 2.5 times the cost of MRI, again reflecting the scale of price difference found in the published data. This cost per arthroscopy represents an average figure, calculated using the average costs, as per the published studies, and the expected proportions of arthroscopies conducted on a day-case basis within the UK.

Importantly, sensitivities around these assumptions on costs were also explored in order to enable the study to be generalised to local situations (arthroscopies may vary in price due to local service provision issues and, likewise, MRI could potentially be cheaper per patient, given existing local capacity/staffing).

Year	Ref	MRI	Arthro	scopy								
			Day Case	In-patient								
	UK Studies											
1993	Spiers ³¹	£185	£600									
1993	Warwick ⁵¹	£120	£250	£475								
1994	Chissell ⁵⁹	£210	£400									
1994	Birch ⁵³	£250	£450	£700								
1996	Williams ⁵⁷	£150	£522									
1997	Carmichael ⁵⁵	£120	£375									
	US Stu	dies (£1 = US\$1	.6)									
1990	Boden ⁶²	£438	£2,000									
1992	Ruwe ⁵⁴	£625	£2,438									
1994	Crowe/Hailey ⁶⁴	£750	£500									
1996	Gelb ³³	£750	-									

Table 14Published Costs of MRI and Arthroscopy

NB : These costs have not been adjusted for inflation

3.3 Cost and Benefit Modelling

In combining the costs and benefits of MRI scanning, three separate scenarios have been considered:

- 1. A low level of avoidable arthroscopies (possibly reflecting a specialist centre where more acute knee disorders are treated through a knee surgeon specialist).
- 2. An average level of avoidable arthroscopies (possibly reflecting a general orthopaedic unit treating a wide range of different knee disorders).
- 3. A high level of avoidable arthroscopies (possibly reflecting a general orthopaedic unit with a low throughput of knee disorders).

Within these scenarios the following have been considered:

- Blanket coverage of all cases (i.e. 100% receive an MRI scan);
- More focused use in cases of diagnostic uncertainty (i.e. trying to limit the use of MRI assuming a sub-set of patients can be identified).

Key Assumptions

- Complication rates for arthroscopy have been assumed to be 3% at an estimated total cost of £1,000, representing four in-patient days (£200 unit cost), two out-patient attendances (£100 unit cost), as previously assumed in the Wessex DEC Report⁴ taken from Boeree et al.⁹
- The low number of avoidable arthroscopies is 5%.³³
- The average number of avoidable arthroscopies is 30%.^{31,56,60}
- The high number of avoidable arthroscopies is 65%.^{21,55}
- The total number of arthroscopies for a 'typical' district is assumed to be 430 (based on Trent data returns).

The following analysis of costs suggests that if only 5% of arthroscopies are truly avoidable (i.e. are being conducted for diagnostic purposes only), then the use of MRI scanning is unlikely to result in any overall cost reductions, even if MRI is tightly targeted at specific patient groups (See Table 15). However, if more than 30% of arthroscopies are avoidable, cost reductions become far more likely, even if MRI is used in all cases (which is unlikely as specialist knee surgeons often do not require MRI).

Data on arthroscopies conducted within Trent seem to support the suggestion that there can

be variations in the proportions of arthroscopies conducted with diagnostic intent (see Table 15).

	Unit Cost	Witl	n No MRI Sca	nning	w	ith MRI Scann	ing	Marginal Cost	
		Proportion	n	Total Cost	Proportion	n	Total Cost		
Arthroscopy Patients		100%	430	-	100%	430	-		
Diagnostic Arthroscopy	£450	5%	21.5	£9,675	0%	0% 0 -			
Therapeutic Arthroscopy	£450	95%	408.5	£183,825	95%				
Complications	£1,000	3%	12.9	£12,900	3%	12.3	£12,300		
Arthroscopy Sub-Total				£206,400			£196,125		
MRI Scanning Blanket @ 100%	£180				100%	430	£77,400		
MRI Scanning Targeted @ 50%	£180				50%	215	£38,700		
MRI Scanning Targeted @ 25%	£180				25%	107.5	£19,350		
TOTAL COST MRI @100%				£206,400			£273,525	£67,125	
TOTAL COST MRI @ 50%				£206,400		£28,425			
TOTAL COST MRI @ 25%				£206,400		£9,075			

Table 15 Scenario 1 - Low Level Avoidable Arthroscopy

Based on the assumptions of unit costs, the marginal cost of providing MRI scanning is calculated at £67,125 if all the arthroscopic patients are scanned prior to surgery, with an avoided 5% of arthroscopies.

	Unit Cost	With	h No MRI Sca	nning	W	ith MRI Scann	ing	Marginal Cost
		Proportion	n	Total Cost)	Proportion	n	Total Cost	
Arthroscopy Patients		100%	430	-	100%	430	-	
Diagnostic Arthroscopy	£450	30%	129	£58,050	0%	0	-	
Therapeutic Arthroscopy	£450	70%	301	£135,450	70%	301	£135,450	
Complications	£1,000	3%	12.9	£12,900	3%	9	£9,000	
Arthroscopy Sub-Total				£206,400		£144,450		
MRI Scanning Blanket @ 100%	£180				100%	430	£77,400	
MRI Scanning Targeted @ 70%	£180				70%	215	£38,700	
MRI Scanning Targeted @ 40%	£180				40%	107.5	£19,350	
TOTAL COST MRI @ 100%				£206,400			0004.050	£15,450
							£221,850	
TOTAL COST MRI @ 70%		£183,150	-£23,250					
TOTAL COST MRI @ 40%	£206,400							-£42,600
							£163,800	

Table 16 Scenario 2 - Average Level of Avoidable Arthroscopy

Based on the assumptions of unit costs, the marginal cost of providing MRI scanning is calculated at £15,450 if all the arthroscopic patients are scanned prior to surgery, with an avoided 30% of arthroscopies.

	Unit Cost	Wit	h No MRI Sca	nning	w	/ith MRI Scann	ing	Marginal Cost
		Proportion	n	Total Cost	Proportion	n	Total Cost	
Arthroscopy Patients		100%	430	-	100%	430	-	
Diagnostic Arthroscopy	£450	60%	258	£116,100	0%	0	-	
Therapeutic Arthroscopy	£450	40%	172	£77,400	40%	172	£77,400	
Complications	£1,000	3%	12.9	£12,900	3%	5.2	£5,200	
Arthroscopy Sub-Total				£206,400				
MRI Scanning Blanket @ 100%	£180				100%	430	£77,400	
MRI Scanning Targeted @ 80%	£180				80%	215	£38,700	
MRI Scanning Targeted @ 70%	£180				70%	107.5	£19,350	
TOTAL COST MRI @ 100%				£206,400			£160,000	£-46,400
TOTAL COST MRI @ 80%		£206,400					£121,300	£-85,100
TOTAL COST MRI @ 70%	% £206,400			£206,400		£101,950	-£104,450	

Table 17 Scenario 3 - High Level of Avoidable Arthroscopy

Based on the assumptions of unit costs, the marginal cost of providing MRI scanning is calculated at -£46,400 (representing a cost saving) if all the arthroscopic patients are scanned prior to surgery, with an avoided 60% of arthroscopies.

3.4 Sensitivity Analysis

The three cost and benefit scenarios allow us to consider the relative economics of MRI scanning given three possible levels of avoidable (or diagnostic) arthroscopy. As previously discussed, these might be expected to be more in the case of a general orthopaedic unit than in a specialist knee unit. The economic conclusions are also dependent on the unit costs and the assumptions in terms of the ability to define a sub-set of patients for MRI scanning, as opposed to scanning all planned arthroscopies.

The following graph (See Figure) presents the overall marginal cost of MRI screening measured at different rates of avoidable arthroscopy. The graph shows three data series, representing different levels of cost difference between arthroscopy and MRI. As this cost difference decreases, the advantages of MRI diminish and the effectiveness line rises up the y-axis. If the cost gap increases (for example MRI gets cheaper through the use of low field systems) then the line moves in the opposite direction. The middle of the three series shown represents the default value used in our scenario calculations. On this basis it can be seen clearly that, given the unit cost assumptions and a 100% coverage of scanning, MRI becomes cost neutral at the point where about 40% of arthroscopies are avoidable.



Figure 3 Sensitivity of MRI Marginal Cost

NB : Each series corresponds to the marginal cost of arthroscopy compared to MRI, i.e. the amount by which the cost of arthroscopy exceeds the cost of MRI.

4. OPTIONS FOR PURCHASERS AND PROVIDERS

There are four options available:

Option 1 - No Change to Current Policy: Clinicians would remain free to request MRI scans as they deem them to be clinically appropriate. There are likely to be no reductions in the number of arthroscopies performed with a possibility of steadily increasing MRI requests and waiting lists.

Option 2 - Routine Use of MRI For All Knee Disorders: Every case of knee disorder has an MRI scan, irrespective of the clinical examination, as part of the diagnostic process, supplementing clinical judgement.

Option 3 - No Routine Use of MRI Scanning: Use arthroscopy rather than MRI to supplement clinical judgement in cases of uncertain diagnosis, accepting that some arthroscopies will result in no therapeutic procedure.

Option 4 - Adopt a Targeted Use of MRI in Selective Cases: This would be achieved by specifying and agreeing appropriate referral guidelines for MRI scanning. The purpose of the guidelines would be to define the type of injury/diagnostic uncertainty which require MRI scan and/or referral to a knee specialist.

An example of such a guideline is the treatment plan for knee injuries from the Department of Orthopaedics at Wexham Park Hospital. Based on their study, Chissell et al.⁵⁹ developed a protocol for the treatment of knee injuries, which they claimed helped to reduce the number of arthroscopies. In their protocol, the indications for MRI were:

- Convincing symptoms, but no signs, e.g. history of locking or giving way, but normal examination.
- Unresolved significant symptoms after conservative treatment, e.g. joint line pain persisting after 12 weeks of conservative treatment.

In discussing purchasing options, the Trent Working Group on Acute Purchasing also raised two further issues which they felt needed consideration.

- The Group felt that the evidence revealed a very real issue of choice between increasing the numbers of specialist knee surgeons, requiring less MRI support, and providing additional access to MRI scanning for general orthopaedic surgeons. The evidence clearly shows that general orthopaedic surgeons often require additional support to their clinical expertise in making diagnosis of certain knee disorders.
- 2. The group felt that, although many studies explored the impact of MRI on patient management, none of the studies could be seen to reflect adequately local circumstances, in terms of current waiting lists etc. There was a suggestion that a regional prospective study of the use of MRI scanning, funded as a waiting list initiative project, could address this issue.

5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Most of the literature looks at the diagnostic accuracy of MRI. Very few studies consider the diagnostic impact and hardly any speculate on patient outcomes.

Conclusions Related to Diagnostic Accuracy of MRI

The majority of studies use arthroscopy as the 'gold standard'. However, it is recognised that this is not a fully reliable reference point. The evidence suggests that general orthopaedic surgeons are likely to miss a sub-set of injuries which would be expected to be identified by knee specialists at arthroscopy. Therefore, both the sensitivity and specificity of clinical examination and arthroscopy are likely to be influenced by the skills and expertise of the clinician. Taking this into account, the evidence suggests that, for the vast majority of patients, MRI is as accurate as arthroscopy in diagnosing knee derangement.

The relatively high levels of abnormal findings in asymptomatic subjects indicate the danger in relying on MRI as a diagnostic test without careful consideration of clinical signs and symptoms. Overall, it is clear from the studies that MRI is not a replacement for a thorough clinical examination and should only be considered as an addition to the initial clinical diagnosis.

The literature seems to indicate strongly that low/medium field strength MRI systems can provide an acceptable diagnostic accuracy comparable to traditional high field strength machines. This has obvious implications in terms of cost and patient comfort.

Conclusions Regarding the Impact of MRI on Patient Management

There are few studies which address the issue of the influence of MRI on patient management. Some of these studies indicate that MRI can reduce the number of and, hence, the waiting lists for arthroscopies, with associated cost savings and patient benefits. However, none of these studies is robust enough to make definite conclusions, with no randomisation and often confusion over clinical experience.

It appears that, in general, there is a difference of opinion between specialist knee surgeons, general orthopaedic surgeons and radiologists. The view of local specialist surgeons is that, for the majority of the patients with knee problems, a good clinical diagnosis is all that is needed to indicate the need for surgical intervention. A surgical intervention is still required even if the original pathology diagnosis proves incorrect. In these cases MRI is felt to provide very little additional benefit and would not alter the eventual patient management. However, the view of many radiologists and general orthopaedic surgeons is that MRI can significantly alter patient management, as was shown in Table 9.

Before requesting MRI, clinicians should consider whether the results would be likely to change the management of their patient and whether there are simpler and less expensive assessments which would provide the same information, such as, good clinical history. There is evidence that MRI can reduce the need for arthroscopy, and most clinicians agree that for some sub-set of patients MRI would be helpful.

Conclusions Regarding the Impact of MRI on Patient Outcome

There is little evidence available to support the hypothesis that the addition of MRI to the diagnostic work-up affects the quality of life of the patient. At the moment, the only conclusion that can be reached is that more research is needed in this area. However, if it does reduce the need for surgery, it will result in less pain, disability and complications, even if all these are short-lived.

Conclusions Related to Cost Benefit Implications

The literature identified and reviewed in this Guidance Note suggests that the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of MRI as a diagnostic tool depend upon a number of factors:

- the type of knee abnormality;
- the level of clinical expertise;
- MRI's ability to avert arthroscopies;
- MRI's ability to reduce waiting lists.

Issues for the Future

There is a general feeling among local clinicians from within the Trent Region, that more MRI scans are requested by general orthopaedic surgeons than by knee specialists. The reason given for this is more accurate diagnostic performance claimed by knee specialists, with a reduced need for MRI to confirm initial clinical diagnosis. There is also a general feeling of a higher diagnostic to therapeutic arthroscopy ratio in general orthopaedic surgeons, with knee specialists expecting very little, if any, diagnostic arthroscopy. In our search we found no studies that specifically address the impact of the surgeon's expertise in the management of the patient. Some questions still need to be answered:

• "Are there any systematic differences in ratios of diagnostic to therapeutic arthroscopy?"

• "Do general surgeons request more MRI scans than specialists?"

The wording of both the referral letter and the radiologist report are factors which have been said to be of influence on diagnostic performance of both MRI and arthroscopies. This is an issue not addressed in this Guidance Note.

Another key issue which has been raised is the importance of expertise and knowledge in both interpreting MRI scans and conducting arthroscopy.

- "Should all knee injuries be seen by a knee specialist?"
- "Should uncertain diagnosis be referred on to a knee specialist?"
- "Should orthopaedic surgeons themselves interpret the MRI?"
- "What should the working definition of a specialist be based on: knee only, lower limb or number of patients per year?"

At the moment it is difficult, with the data available, to form any conclusion on what the true impact of MRI on patient management is. Perhaps a regional audit would clarify this. Such an audit could also provide information on case mix, the proportion of patients with definite diagnosis following MRI scan and the proportion of patients whose diagnosis changes following scanning.

Key Summary Points

- MRI has an effective diagnostic performance when compared to arthroscopy in cases of knee derangement.
- MRI is more accurate for medial meniscal, PCL and ACL injuries than lateral meniscal tears.
- MRI does not replace a careful history and competent physical examination.
- There is a lack of scientific rigorous studies comparing the results of MRI with other imaging techniques.
- Clinical diagnosis can give the wrong pathology in around 20% of cases, but remains a very accurate predictor (~100%) of the need for surgical intervention, when conducted by knee specialists.

Evidence suggests that MRI has a role to play in supporting the clinical diagnosis of patients when under the care of a general orthopaedic surgeon. However, its relevance for a knee

specialist is more limited to cases where the need for surgery, irrespective of suspected disorder, is questionable.

GLOSSARY

Anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) - the ligament that limits the glide of the tibia on the femur, thus providing anterior-posterior (front to back) stability of the knee.

Arthroscopy - direct visualisation of a joint by means of an instrument used to view the interior of the joint and for correcting certain abnormalities.

Articular cartilage - a smooth, non-vascular connective tissue that permits the gliding motion of the joint.

Femur - the thighbone; the longest and strongest bone in the body.

Fibrocartilage - a type of tough cartilage containing collagen fibers.

Knee - the articulation between the femur and tibia.

Lateral meniscus - a nearly circular, crescent-shaped fibrocartilage attached to the lateral articular surface of the superior end of the tibia.

Medial meniscus - a crescent-shaped fibrocartilage attached to the medial articular surface of the superior end of the tibia.

Meniscus - a crescent-shaped structure that serves as a cushion between two bones meeting in a joint.

Orthopaedics - branch of medicine concerned with the preservation and restoration of functions of the skeletal system and associated structures.

Osteoarthritis - a chronic disorder marked by degeneration of articular cartilage and hypertrophy of bone, accompanied by pain that appears with activity and usually subsides with rest. Also called degenerative joint disease.

Patella - triangular bone located in the front of the knee joint.

Posterior Cruciate Ligament (PCL) - the ligament which is located at the rear of the knee. It is shorter than the ACL, but is thicker and stronger.

Tibia - the larger and medial of the two bones of the leg between the knee and the ankle, commonly called the shinbone.

APPENDIX A Lateral/Medial Views of the Knee Joint

Lateral Meniscus



Medial Meniscus



Year	Trial	(Clinical	N		Medial	Meniso	us (%)		Lateral Meniscus (%)				ACL (%)					Arterial cartilage (%)					
N	N	Exper	(pts)	Se	Sp	Acc	PPV	NPV	Se	Sp	Acc	PPV	NPV	Se	Sp	Acc	PPV	NPV	Se	Sp	Acc	PPV	NPV	_1998
		ience																						
1997	Yoon et al. ³⁰	1	not known	200	87	93	90	92	88	81	93	90	82	92	76	97	92	90	92	-	-	-	-	-
1996	Miller et al. ³⁴	1	specialist	50	100	-	81	81	-	#	#	#	#	#	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
1996	Rose et al. ⁶⁵	1	specialist	100	73	79	75	87	60	35	100	69	100	63	92	99	98	92	99	-	-	-	-	-
1991	Boeree et al.9	>1	specialist	144	-	-	63	-	-	-	-	75	-	-	-	-	81	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

APPENDIX B Clinical Examination Accuracy Studies

= combined meniscal data

(accuracy confirmed by arthroscopy in all studies)

APPENDIX C MRI Diagnostic Accuracy Studies

Mackenzie Reviewed Studies

Year	Ref	MRI	Blinding	n		Medial I	Menisc	us (%))	Lateral Meniscus (%)						
		Field			Se	Sp	Acc	PPV	NPV	Se	Sp	Acc	PPV	NPV		
1986	Mandelbaum et al. ⁶⁶	0.3T	-	80	96	82	90	88	93	75	95	91	80	94		
1987	Reicher et al. ⁶⁷	0.3T	-	61	100	64	85	80	100	75	84	81	64	90		
1987	Crues et al. ⁶⁸	1.5T	br	134	87	91	89	93	84	88	98	94	96	92		
1988	Silva et al. ⁶⁹	0.35T	-	44	62	53	59	72	42	na	na	na	na	na		
1988	Polly et al. ⁷⁰	1.5T	br	50	96	100	98	100	96	67	95	90	75	93		
1988	Jackson et al. ⁷¹	1.5T	br	87	98	89	93	89	98	85	99	97	92	97		
1989	Glashow et al.42	0.35T	br/bs	50	77	71	74	68	80	93	94	94	87	97		
1990	Crues et al. ⁷²	1.5T	-	171	98	100	99	100	99	84	97	95	87	96		
1991	Raunest et al.44	1.5T	br/bs	50	94	37	72	71	78	78	69	72	58	85		
1991	Kelly et al. ⁷³	0.5T	-	60	97	77	88	85	95	90	87	88	79	94		
1991	Boeree et al. ⁷⁴	0.5T	br	129	97	91	94	91	97	96	98	98	93	99		
1991	Quinn et al. ¹⁸	1.5T	-	219	92	82	89	94	78	70	95	87	86	88		
1991	Fischer et al. ⁷⁵	varied	-	911	93	84	89	86	92	68	94	88	76	92		
1993	Spiers et al. ³¹	1.5T	bs	58	100	76	86	75	100	100	96	97	82	100		

br = blinded radiologist; bs= blinded surgeon

Se = sensitivity; Sp = specificity; Acc = Accuracy; PPV = positive predictive value; NPV = negative predictive value

Mackenzie Reviewed Studies cont.

Year	Ref	MRI	Ant	erior	Crucia	ate Lig	ament	(%)	Pos	terior	Cruc	ciate L	.igame	nt (%)
		Field	n	Acc	Se	Sp	PPV	NPV	n	Acc	Se	Sp	PPV	NPV
1986	Mandelbaum et al. ⁶⁶	0.3T	83	100	100	100	100	100	-	-	-	-	-	-
1988	Polly et al. ⁷⁰	1.5T	37	100	100	100	100	100	-	-	-	-	-	-
1988	Lee et al. ⁷⁶	1.5T	41	98	94	95	100	96	41	98	94	100	100	96
1988	Jackson et al. ⁷¹	1.5T	87	97	100	96	70	100	-	-	-	-	-	-
1988	Mink et al. ²⁶	1.5T	242	95	92	95	78	98	-	-	-	-	-	-
1989	Reeder et al. ⁷⁷	1.0T	50	92	82	95	82	95	-	-	-	-	-	-
1989	Reeder et al. ⁷⁷	1.0T (GE)	50	92	64	100	100	91	-	-	-	-	-	-
1989	Glashow et al.42	0.35T	50	72	61	81	74	71	-	-	-	-	-	-
1991	Niitsu et al. ⁷⁸	1.5T	52	79	71	88	87	72	52	98	100	98	80	100
1991	Niitsu et al. ⁷⁸	1.5T (Cine)	52	94	93	96	96	92	52	98	100	96	66	100
1991	Kelly et al. ⁷³	0.5T	60	93	88	94	70	98	-	-	-	-	-	-
1991	Vahey et al. ⁷⁹	1.5T	81	93	92	93	96	87	-	-	-	-	-	-
1991	Boerre et al. ⁷⁴	0.5T	95	96	100	96	33	100	-	-	-	-	-	-
1991	Fischer et al. ⁷⁵	varied	997	93	93	93	76	98	1014	99	80	99	57	100
1992	Heron et al. ⁸⁰	1.5T	242	94	88	96	88	96	-	-	-	-	-	-
1992	Gross et al. ⁸¹	0.3T	-	-	-	-	-	-	201	100	100	100	99	100

Rappeport Reviewed Studies

Year	Reference	Blinding	P	Media	al	Lateral					
			Men	iscus	s (%)	Ме	Meniscus (%)				
			Se	Sp	Acc	Se	Sp	Acc			
1987	Reicher et al. ⁶⁷	No	89	64	-	67	67	-			
1987	Crues et al. ⁶⁸	No	87	91	91	87	97	91			
1988	Mink et al. ²⁶	No	97	89	4	92	91	92			
1989	Redder et al. ⁷⁷	No	87	98	-	-	-	-			
1989	Glashow et al.42	Yes	77	71	-	93	94	-			
1991	Raunest et al.44	Yes	94	37	72	78	69	72			
1991	Niitsu et al. ⁷⁸	No	71	96	-	-	-	-			
1991	Kelly et al. ⁷³	No	97	77	88	90	87	88			
1991	Quinn et al. ¹⁸	No	92	81	88	70	94	88			
1991	Fischer et al. ⁷⁵	No	93	84	89	69	94	88			
1992	Derme et al. ³⁸	Yes	91	86	84	-	-	84			
1992	Heron et al. ⁸⁰	No	97	94	-	-	-	-			
1992	Quinn et al. ⁸²	No	90	95	92	80	97	93			
1993	Araki et al. ⁸³	No	100	100	-	-	-	-			
1993	Sanchis-Alfonso ⁸⁴	No	78	95	91	-	-	91			
1993	Spiers et al. ³¹	Yes	100	71	n/a	100	92	n/a			
1993	Barnett et al. ⁴⁶	No	93	90	92	81	97	93			
1993	Mesgarzadeh ⁸⁵	No	95	74	n/a	86	90	n/a			
1993	De Smet et al. ⁸⁶	No	93	86	n/a	83	92	n/a			
1994	Haramati et al. ⁸⁷	No	100	62	n/a	92	90	n/a			

Year	Reference	Blinded	A	CL (%	%)	P	CL (%	%)
			Se	Sp	Acc	Se	Sp	Acc
1988	Lee et al. ⁷⁶	No	94	100	-	-	-	-
1988	Mink et al. ²⁶	No	92	95	95	-	-	-
1989	Redder et al.77	No	82	100	-	-	-	-
1989	Glashow et al. ⁴²	Yes	61	82	-	-	-	-
1990	Grover et al. ⁸⁸	No	-	-	-	100	100	-
1991	Niitsu et al. ⁷⁸	No	96	92		100	98	-
1991	Kelly et al. ⁷³	No	87	94	93	-	-	-
1991	Vahey et al. ⁷⁹	No	92	93	93	-	-	-
1991	Fischer et al. ⁷⁵	No	93	93	93	-	99	99
1992	Derme et al. ³⁸	Yes	100	80	82	-	-	-
1992	Heron et al. ⁸⁰	No	92	96		100	100	-
1993	Sanchis-Alfonso et al. ⁸⁴	No	96	100	98	-	-	-
1993	Spiers et al. ³¹	Yes	100	98	-	100	100	-
1993	Tung et al. ⁸⁹	No	96	94	-	-	-	-
1993	Barnett et al.46	No	100	97	97	-	-	-
1994	Haramati et al. ⁸⁷	No	93	82	-	-	-	-
1994	Gentili et al. ⁹⁰	No	93	97	-	-	-	-
1994	Robertson et al. ⁹¹	No	95	85	-	-	-	-
1994	Chan et al. ⁹²	No	90	94	-	-	-	-

MRI Diagnostic Accuracy Studies 1996 - July 1998

Year	Reference	Design	Blinding	Setting	MRI Radiologist		Surgeon		MRI		Ν	Medial Meniscus (%)				5)	Lateral Meniscus (%)					
				N	Exp	N	Exp	Field	Pulse	(Pts)	Se	Sp	Acc	PPV	NPV	Se	Sp	Acc	PPV	NPV	_199	
					erie		erie														8	
					nce		nce															
1997	Rappeport ³⁷	pro	bs/br	general	2	not known	-	orth specialist	0.1T	GE3/GE2	47	86	73	77	57	92	40	98	91	67	93	
1997	Muellner et al. ³⁵	pro	bs/br	sports	1	not known	3	knee 10/30 yrs	1.5T	SE/GE	36	98	86	96	97	92	#	#	#	#	#	
1997	Cheung et al. ⁹⁴	ret	unclear	general	50	mixed	>1	not known	1.5T	SE/FSE	289	89	84	87	85	88	72	93	86	84	87	
1996	Miller et al. ³⁴	pro	br/bc	sports	17	not known	1	knee specialist	0.35-	SE	57	76	90	81	91	63	40	95	81	88	82	
									1.5T													
1996	Rose et al. ⁶⁵	pro/ret	bc	general	4	not known	1	knee specialist	1.5T	SE	100	73	79	75	87	60	35	100	69	100	63	
1995	Chen et al. ⁹⁵	ret	ba	general	-	not known	-	not known	1.5T	SE/GE	50	87	86	86	72	-	85	90	88	85	-	

ret = retrospective study; pro = prospective study; ba = blinded analyst; br = blinded radiologist; bs= blinded surgeon; bc = binded clinical diagnosis

GE2 = gradient echo 2D; GE3 = gradient echo 3D; SE = spin echo; FSE = fast spin echo; ath = athletes

= combined meniscal data

Year	Reference	ACL (%)						Arterial cartilage (%)						PCL (%)						
		Se	Sp	Acc	PPV	NPV	Se	Sp	Acc	PPV	NPV	Se	Sp	Acc	PPV	NPV				
1998	Ha et al. ⁹³	96	98	98	95	99	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
1998	Munk et al. ²⁹	44	96	82	78	83	0	97	56	0	57	-	-	-	-	-				
1997	Rappeport et al. ³⁷	89	97	96	89	97	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
1997	Muellner et al. ³⁵	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
1997	Cheung et al. ⁹⁴	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
1996	Miller et al. ³⁴	59	98	86	91	84	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
1996	Rose et al. ⁶⁵	92	99	98	92	99	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
1995	Chen et al. ⁹⁵	95	89	92	88	-			-	-	-	100	100	100	100	-				

APPENDIX D Low vs High Field Strength Studies

Year	Reference	Design	Blinding	MRI Field	N (pts)		Menisc	al	n	Latera nenisc	l us	ACL			
						Sp	Se	Acc	Sp	Se	Acc	Sp	Se	Ac	
														С	
1997	Franklin et al.45	pro	br/bs	0.2T (A)	35	86	100	91	89	100	97	-	-	-	
1996	Kersting-Sommerhoff et al.41	pro		0.2T(A)	210	82	77	79	70	93	90	90	100	98	
1996	Kersting-Sommerhoff et al.41	pro		0.2T(A)	20	73	76	75	-	-	-	95	87	90	
		pro		1.5T	20	87	87	85	-	-	-	86	87	85	
1995	Passariello et al.48	ret		?	145										
				0.5T	222										
1995	Parizel et al.49			0.2T	10										
1995	Kladny et al.47	pro	br	0.2T	22	75	97	-	#	#	-	100	75	-	
1994	Kinnunen et al. ³⁹			0.1T	33	88	80	-	25	97	-	83	85	-	
1993	Barnett et al.46			0.5T	118	93	90	92	81	97	93	100	97	97	

A = ARTISCAN; br = blinded radiologist; bs= blinded surgeon; ret = retrospective study ; pro = prospective study

= combined meniscal data

REFERENCES

- 1 Gray SD, Kaplan PA, Dussault RG. Imaging of the knee. Current status. *Orthop Clin North Am* 1997; 28: 643-658.
- 2 Rubin DA. MR imaging of the knee menisci. *Radiol Clin North Am* 1997; 35: 21-44.
- 3 Crotty JM, Monu JU, Pope TL, Jr. Magnetic resonance imaging of the musculoskeletal system. Part 4. The knee. *Clin Orthop* 1996; 288-303.
- 4 Wessex DEC. Magnetic Resonance Imaging for Knee Disorders. 1993; Report No. 93/04: 1-12.
- 5 International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems. World Health Organisation, 1992; 10th Edition: 642-643.
- 6 International Classification of Diseases. World Health Organisation, 1975; 9th Edition: 400-401.
- 7 OPCS. Morbidity Statistics from General Practice: Fourth National Study, 1991 1992. 1995.
- 8 Boden SD. Abnormal magnetic-resonance scans of the cervical spine in asymptomatic subjects. A prospective investigation. *J Bone Joint Surg* 1990; 72: 1178-1184.
- 9 Boeree NR, Ackroyd CE. Assessment of the menisci and cruciate ligaments: an audit of clinical practice. *Injury* 1991; 22: 291-294.
- 10 Kneeland JB. Magnetic resonance imaging of the musculoskeletal system. Part 1. Fundamental principles. *Clin Orthop* 1995; 274-279.
- 11 Steiner RE. Nuclear magnetic resonance imaging. *BMJ* 1987; 294: 1570-1572.
- 12 Armstrong P, Keevil SF. Magnetic resonance imaging 2: Clinical uses. *BMJ* 1991; 303: 105-109.
- 13 Dhellock FG. MR procedures and biomedical implants, materials, and devices. *Radiology* 1993; 189: 587-599.

- 14 Abser L. Claustrophobia in magnetic resonance imaging. *Can J Radiation Tech* 1993; 24: 115-116.
- 15 Thorp D. Subjective experience of magnetic resonance imaging. *Clin Radiol* 1990; 41: 276-278.
- 16 Heron CW. Review article: MRI of the knee. *Br J Radiol* 1993; 66: 292-302.
- 17 Bureau NJ, Kaplan PA, Dussault RG. MRI of the knee: a simplified approach. *Curr Probl Diagn Radiol* 1995; 24: 1-49.
- 18 Quinn SF, Brown TF. Meniscal tears diagnosed with MR imaging versus arthroscopy: how reliable a standard is arthroscopy? *Radiology* 1991; 181: 843-847.
- 19 Rappeport ED, Mehta S, Wieslander SB, et al. MR imaging before arthroscopy in knee joint disorders? *Acta Radiol* 1996; 37: 602-609.
- 20 Smith HJ. MR imaging before arthroscopy in knee joint disorders *Acta Radiol* 1996; 37: 601.
- 21 Mackenzie R, Dixon AK, Keene GS, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of the knee: assessment of effectiveness. *Clin Radiol* 1996; 51: 245-250.
- 22 Mackenzie R, Dixon AK. Clinical value of magnetic resonance imaging of the knee. *Acad Radiol* 1996; 3 Suppl 1: S32.
- 23 Mackenzie R, Palmer CR, Lomas DJ, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of the knee: diagnostic performance studies. *Clin Radiol* 1996; 51: 251-257.
- 24 Tolin BS, Del Pizzo W. Bilateral discoid medial menisci. Case report. *Am J Knee Surg* 1995; 8: 66-70.
- 25 Dixon AK. Magnetic resonance imaging of meniscal tears of the knee. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 1996; 78: 174-176.
- 26 Mink JH. Tears of the anterior cruciate ligament and menisci of the knee: MR imaging evaluation. *Radiology* 1988; 167: 769-774.
- 27 Fowler PJ, Lubliner JA. The predictive power of five clinical signs in the evaluation of meniscal pathology. *Arthroscopy* 1989; 5: 184-186.

- 28 Boden SD, Davis DO, Dina TS, et al. A prospective and blinded investigation of magnetic resonance imaging of the knee. Abnormal findings in asymptomatic subjects. *Clin Orthop* 1992; 177-185.
- 29 Munk B, Madsen F, Lundorf E, et al. Clinical magnetic resonance imaging and arthroscopic findings in knees: a comparative prospective study of meniscus anterior cruciate ligament and cartilage lesions. *Arthroscopy* 1998; 14: 171-175.
- 30 Yoon YS, Rah JH, Park HJ. A prospective study of the accuracy of clinical examination evaluated by arthroscopy of the knee. *Int Orthop* 1997; 21: 223-227.
- 31 Spiers AS, Meagher T, Ostlere SJ, et al. Can MRI of the knee affect arthroscopic practice? A prospective study of 58 patients. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 1993; 75: 49-52.
- 32 Terry GC, Tagert BE, Young MJ. Reliability of the clinical assessment in predicting the cause of internal derangements of the knee. *Arthroscopy* 1995; 11: 568-576.
- 33 Gelb HJ, Glasgow SG, Sapega AA, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of knee disorders. Clinical value and cost-effectiveness in a sports medicine practice. *Am J Sports Med* 1996; 24: 99-103.
- 34 Miller GK. A prospective study comparing the accuracy of the clinical diagnosis of meniscus tear with magnetic resonance imaging and its effect on clinical outcome. *Arthroscopy* 1996; 12: 406-413.
- 35 Muellner T, Weinstabl R, Schabus R, et al. The diagnosis of meniscal tears in athletes. A comparison of clinical and magnetic resonance imaging investigations *Am J Sports Med* 1997; 25: 7-12.
- 36 Boeve BF, Davidson RA, Staab EV, Jr. Magnetic resonance imaging in the evaluation of knee injuries. *South Med J* 1991; 84: 1123-1127.
- 37 Rappeport ED, Wieslander SB, Stephensen S, et al. MRI preferable to diagnostic arthroscopy in knee joint injuries. A double-blind comparison of 47 patients. *Acta Orthop Scand* 1997; 68: 277-281.
- 38 D'erme M, Venture M, Di Giacomc D, et al. Risonanza magnetica e artoscopis del ginocchio. *Radiol Med* 1992; 84: 553
- 39 Kinnunen J, Bondestam S, Kivioja A, et al. Diagnostic performance of low field MRI in acute knee injuries. *Mag Reson Imaging* 1994; 12: 1155-1160.

- 40 Grevitt MP, Pool CJ, Bodley RN, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of the knee: initial experience in a district general hospital [published erratum appears in Injury 1992;23(8):568]. *Injury* 1992; 23: 410-412.
- 41 Kersting-Sommerhoff B, Hof N, Lenz M, et al. MRI of peripheral joints with a low-field dedicated system: a reliable and cost-effective alternative to high-field units? *Eur Radiol* 1996; 6: 561-565.
- 42 Glashow JL, Katz R, Schneider M. Double blinded assessment of the value of magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis of anterior ruciate and meniscal lesions. *J Bone Joint Surg* 1989; 71A: 113-119.
- 43 Barronian AD, Zolton JD, Bucon KA. Magnetic resonance imaging of the knee: correlation with arthroscopy. *Arthroscopy* 1989; 5: 187-191.
- 44 Raunest J, Oberle K, Loehnert J, et al. The clinical value of magnetic resonance imaging in the evaluation of meniscal disorders. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 1991; 73: 11-16.
- 45 Franklin PD, Lemon RA, Barden HS. Accuracy of imaging the menisci on an in-office, dedicated, magnetic resonance imaging extremity system. *Am J Sports Med* 1997; 25: 382-388.
- 46 Barnett MJ. MR diagnosis of internal derangements of the knee: effect of field strength on efficacy. *AJR* 1993; 161: 115-118.
- 47 Kladny B, Gluckert K, Swoboda B, et al. Comparison of low-field (0.2 Tesla) and highfield (1.5 Tesla) magnetic resonance imaging of the knee joint. *Arch Orthop Trauma Surg* 1995; 114: 281-286.
- 48 Passariello R, Masciocchi C, Barile A, et al. MRI of the extremities with a dedicated system: 2437 patients in routine clinical use. *J Jpn Orthop Assoc* 1995; 69: S898).
- 49 Parizel PM, Dijkstra HA, Geenen GP, et al. Low-field versus high-field MR imaging of the knee: a comparison of signal behaviour and diagnostic performance. *Eur J Radiol* 1995; 19: 132-138.
- 50 LaPrade RF, Burnett QM, 2nd, Veenstra MA, et al. The prevalence of abnormal magnetic resonance imaging findings in asymptomatic knees. With correlation of magnetic resonance imaging to arthroscopic findings in symptomatic knees. *Am J Sports Med* 1994; 22: 739-745.
- 51 Warwick DJ, Cavanagh P, Bell M, et al. Influence of magnetic resonance imaging on a knee arthroscopy waiting list. *Injury* 1993; 24: 380-382.

- 52 Hede A. Symptoms and Level of Sport Activity in Patients awaiting Arthroscopy for Meniscal Lesions of the Knee. *J Bone Joint Surg* 1990; 72A: 550.
- 53 Birch N. The Investigation and Treatment of Disorders of the Knee : Indications and a Cost-comparison of Arthroscopy and Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Health Trends* 1994; 26: 50-52.
- 54 Ruwe PA, McCarthy SM. Cost effectiveness of magnetic resonance imaging of the knee. *Magn Reson Imaging Clin North Am* 1994; 2: 475-479.
- 55 Carmichael IW, MacLeod AM, Travlos J. MRI can prevent unnecessary arthroscopy. *J* Bone Joint Surg Br 1997; 79: 624-625.
- 56 Trieshmann HW, Jr., Mosure JC. The impact of magnetic resonance imaging of the knee on surgical decision making. *Arthroscopy* 1996; 12: 550-555.
- 57 Williams RL, Williams LA, Watura R, et al. Impact of MRI on a knee arthroscopy waiting list. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 1996; 78: 450-452.
- 58 Ruwe PA, Wright J, Randall RL, et al. Can MR imaging effectively replace diagnostic arthroscopy? *Radiology* 1992; 183: 335-339.
- 59 Chissell HR, Allum RL, Keightley A. MRI of the knee: its cost-effective use in a district general hospital. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 1994; 76: 26-29.
- 60 Maurer EJ, Kaplan PA, Dussault RG, et al. Acutely injured knee: effect of MR imaging on diagnostic and therapeutic decisions. *Radiology* 1997; 204: 799-805.
- 61 Weinstabl R, Muellner T, Vecsei V, et al. Economic considerations for the diagnosis and therapy of meniscal lesions: can magnetic resonance imaging help reduce the expense? *World J Surg* 1997; 21: 363-368.
- 62 Boden SD, Labropoulos PA, Vailas JC. MR scanning of the acutely injured knee: sensitive, but is it cost effective? *Arthroscopy* 1990; 6: 306-310.
- 63 Hollingworth W, Mackenzie R, Todd CJ, et al. Measuring changes in quality of life following magnetic resonance imaging of the knee: SF-36, EuroQol or Rosser index? *Quality of Life Research* 1995; 4: 325-334.
- 64 Crowe BL, Hailey DM. MRI of the Knee; A Discussion Paper. *Aust Inst Health Welfare* 1994.

- 65 Rose NE, Gold SM. A comparison of accuracy between clinical examination and magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis of meniscal and anterior cruciate ligament tears. *Arthroscopy* 1996; 12: 398-405.
- 66 Mandelbaum BR, Finerman GAM, Reicher MA. Magnetic resonance imaging as a tool for evaluation of traumatic knee injuries: anatomical and pathoanatomical correlations. *Am J Sports Med* 1986; 14: 361-370.
- 67 Reicher MA, Hartzman S, Bassett LW. MR imaging of the knee: Part 1. Traumatic disorders. *Radiology* 1987; 162: 547-557.
- 68 Crues JV, Mink J, Levy TL. Meniscal tears of the knee: accuracy of MR imaging. *Radiology* 1987; 164: 445-448.
- 69 Silva I, Silver DM. Tears of the meniscus as revealed by magnetic resonance imaging. *J Bone Joint Surg* 1988; 70A: 199-202.
- 70 Polly DW, Callaghan JJ, Sikes RA. The accuracy of selective magnetic resonance imaging compared with the findings of arthroscopy of the knee. *J Bone Joint Surg* 1988; 70A: 192-198.
- 71 Jackson DW, Jennings LD, Maywood RM. Magnetic resonance imaging of the knee. *Am J Sports Med* 1988; 16: 29-38.
- 72 Crues JV, 3d, Ryu R, Morgan FW. Meniscal pathology. The expanding role of magnetic resonance imaging. *Clin Orthop* 1990; 80-87.
- 73 Kelly MA, Flock TJ, Kimmel JA, et al. MR imaging of the knee: clarification of its role. *Arthroscopy* 1991; 7: 78-85.
- 74 Boeree NR, Watkinson AF, Ackroyd CE, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of meniscal and cruciate injuries of the knee. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 1991; 73: 452-457.
- 75 Fischer SP, Fox JM, Del Pizzo W, et al. Accuracy of diagnoses from magnetic resonance imaging of the knee. A multi-center analysis of one thousand and fourteen patients. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 1991; 73: 2-10.
- 76 Lee JK, Yao L, Phelps CT. Anterior cruciate ligament tears:MR imaging compared with arthroscopy and clinical tests. *Radiology* 1988; 166: 861-864.

- 77 Reeder JD, Matz SO, Becker L. MR imaging of the knee in the sagittal projection: comparison of three-dimensional gradient echo and spin echo sequences. *AJR* 1989; 153: 537-540.
- 78 Niitsu M, Anno I, Fukubayashi T, et al. Tears of cruciate ligaments and menisci: evaluation with cine MR imaging. *Radiology* 1991; 178: 859-864.
- 79 Vahey TN, Broome DR, Kayes KJ, et al. Acute and chronic tears of the anterior cruciate ligament: differential features at MR imaging. *Radiology* 1991; 181: 251-253.
- 80 Heron CW, Calvert PT. Three-dimensional gradient-echo MR imaging of the knee: comparison with arthroscopy in 100 patients. *Radiology* 1992; 183: 839-844.
- 81 Gross ML, Grover JS, Bassett LW, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of the posterior cruciate ligament. Clinical use to improve diagnostic accuracy. *Am J Sports Med* 1992; 20: 732-737.
- 82 Quinn SF, Brown TR, Szumowski J. Menisci of the knee: radial MR imaging correlated with arthroscopy in 259 patients. *Radiology* 1992; 185: 577-580.
- 83 Araki Y, Tsukaguchi I, Shino K, et al. Tuberculous arthritis of the knee: MR findings [letter]. *AJR* 1993; 160: 664
- 84 Sanchis-Alfonso V, Martinez-Sanjuan V, Gastaldi-Orquin E. The value of MRI in the evaluation of the ACL deficient knee and in the post-operative evaluation after ACL reconstruction [published erratum appears in Eur J Radiol 1993 Apr;16(3):255]. *Eur J Radiol* 1993; 16: 126-130.
- 85 Mesgarzadeh M, Moyer R, Leder DS, et al. MR imaging of the knee: expanded classification and pitfalls to interpretation of meniscal tears. *Radiographics* 1993; 13: 489-500.
- 86 De Smet AA, Norris MA, Yandow DR, et al. Diagnosis of meniscal tears of the knee with MR imaging: effect of observer variation and sample size on sensitivity and specificity. *AJR* 1993; 160: 555-559.
- 87 Haramati N, Staron RB, Cushin S, et al. Value of the coronal plane in MRI of internal derangement of the knee. *Skeletal Radiol* 1994; 23: 211-215.
- 88 Grover JS, Bassett LW, Gross ML, et al. Posterior cruciate ligament: MR imaging. *Radiology* 1990; 174: 527-530.

- 89 Tung GA, Davis LM, Wiggins ME, et al. Tears of the anterior cruciate ligament: primary and secondary signs at MR imaging. *Radiology* 1993; 188: 661-667.
- 90 Gentili A, Seeger LL, Yao L, et al. Anterior cruciate ligament tear: indirect signs at MR imaging. *Radiology* 1994; 193: 835-840.
- 91 Robertson PL, Schweitzer ME, Bartolozzi AR, et al. Anterior cruciate ligament tears: evaluation of multiple signs with MR imaging. *Radiology* 1994; 193: 829-834.
- 92 Chan WP, Peterfy C, Fritz RC, et al. MR diagnosis of complete tears of the anterior cruciate ligament of the knee: importance of anterior subluxation of the tibia. *AJR* 1994; 162: 355-360.
- Ha TP, Li KC, Beaulieu CF, et al. Anterior cruciate ligament injury: fast spin-echo MR imaging with arthroscopic correlation in 217 examinations. *AJR* 1998; 1215-1219.
- 94 Cheung LP, Li KC, Hollett MD, et al. Meniscal tears of the knee: accuracy of detection with fast spin-echo MR imaging and arthroscopic correlation in 293 patients. *Radiology* 1997; 203: 508-512.
- 95 Chen MC, Shih TT, Jiang CC, et al. MRI of meniscus and cruciate ligament tears correlated with arthroscopy. *J Formos Med Assoc* 1995; 94: 605-611.

Other papers published by the Trent Institute for Health Services Research are listed below:-

Guidance Notes for Purchasers

- 96/01 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Use of DNase in Cystic Fibrosis £6.00 (1996) by JN Payne, S Dixon, NJ Cooper and CJ McCabe.
- 96/02 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: Tertiary Cardiology (1996) by J Tomlinson, £6.00 J Sutton and CJ McCabe.
- 96/03 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Use of Cochlear Implantation (1996) £6.00 by Q Summerfield and J Tomlinson.
- 96/04 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: Statin Therapy / HMG Co-A £6.00
 Reductase Inhibitor Treatment in the Prevention of Coronary Heart
 Disease (1996) by
 MD Pickin, JN Payne, IU Haq, CJ McCabe, SE Ward, PR Jackson and WW Yeo.
- 97/01 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Clinical and Cost-effectiveness of £10.00 Computed Tomography in the Management of Transient Ischaemic Attack and Stroke (1997) by A Ferguson and CJ McCabe.
- 97/02 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: Prostacyclin in the Treatment of Primary £10.00
 Pulmonary Hypertension (1997) by TW Higenbottam, SE Ward, A Brennan,
 CJ McCabe, RG Richards and MD Stevenson.

- 97/03 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Use of Riluzole in the Treatment £10.00 of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (Motor Neurone Disease) (1997) by J Chilcott,
 P Golightly, D Jefferson, CJ McCabe and S Walters.
- 97/04 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: Recombinant Factor VIII Versus Plasma £10.00 Derived Factor VIII in the Management of Haemophilia A: An Examination of the Costs and Consequences (1997) by C Green and RL Akehurst.
- 97/05 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Use of Cisplatin and Paclitaxel as a £10.00
 First Line Treatment in Ovarian Cancer (1997) by SM Beard, R Coleman,
 J Radford and J Tidy.
- 97/06 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Use of Alpha Interferon in the £10.00 Management of Chronic Myeloid Leukaemia (1997) by RG Richards and CJ McCabe.
- 97/07 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: Spinal Cord Stimulation in the £10.00 Management of Chronic Pain (1997) by J Tomlinson, CJ McCabe and B Collett.
- 97/08 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Use of Growth Hormone in Adults £5.00 (1997) by JN Payne and RG Richards.
- 97/09 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: A Review of the Use of Donepezil in £10.00 theTreatment of Alzheimer's Disease (1997) by FA Pitt, J Chilcott, P Golightly, J Sykes, M Whittingham.

- 97/10 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Use of Bone Anchored Hearing Aids £10.00 (1997) by NJ Cooper, J Tomlinson and J Sutton.
- 98/01 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: A Review of the Use of Current Atypical £10.00
 Antipsychotics in the Treatment of Schizophrenia (1998) by S Beard, J Brewin,
 C Packham, P Rowlands, P Golightly.
- 98/02 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: Internal Fixation of Tibial Shaft and £10.00
 Distal Radius Fractures in Adults (1998) by N Calvert, P Triffit, S Johnstone,
 RG Richards.
- 98/04 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Effectiveness of High Dose £10.00 Chemotherapy and Autologous Stem Cell Transplantation in the Treatment of Hodgkin's Disease and Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma (1998) by S Beard, P Lorigan, A Simms, F Sampson.

- 98/05 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme (ACE) £10.00
 Inhibitors in Heart Failure: Reducing Mortality and Costs to the NHS (1998) by
 N Calvert, J Cornell, C Singleton.
- 98/06 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Use Of Ultrasound (Viability) Scans In £10.00 Early Pregnancy Bleeding (1998) by N Calvert, C Singleton, P Tromans.
- 98/08 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Effectiveness of High Dose £10.00 Chemotherapy with Autologous Stem Cell / Bone Marrow Transplantation in the Treatment of Multiple Myeloma (1998) by S Beard, F Sampson, E Vandenberghe and F Scott.
- 98/10 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: Supplementary Document: The Use of £10.00
 Paclitaxel in the First Line Treatment of Ovarian Cancer (1998) by S Beard,
 R Coleman, J Radford and J Tidy.
- 98/11 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The use of Fluoridated School Milk in the £10.00 Prevention of Dental Caries (1998) by N Calvert and N Thomas.
- 99/01 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Role of Leukotriene Inhibitors in £15.00 Asthma (1999) by M Stevenson, R Richards, S Beard.
- 99/02 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: Partial Hepatectomy for Liver Metastases £15.00 (1999) by S Beard, M Holmes, A Majeed, C Price.
- 99/03 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: A review of the Use of Propentofylline in the £15.00
 Treatment of Dementia (1999) by J Chilcott, K Perrett, P Golightly, J Sykes and
 M Whittingham.
- 99/04 Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Use of Routine Anti-D prophylaxis £15.00 Antenatally to Rhesus Negative Women (1999) by M Allaby, K Forman, S Touch and J Chilcott.
Discussion Papers

No. 1.	Patients with Minor Injuries: A Literature Review of Options for their Treatment Outside Major Accident and Emergency Departments or Occupational Health Settings (1994) by S Read.	£7.00
96/01	Working Group on Acute Purchasing: The Role of Beta Interferon in the Treatment of Multiple Sclerosis (1996) by RG Richards, CJ McCabe, NJ Cooper, SF Paisley, A Brennan and RL Akehurst.	£7.50
96/02	The Mid-level Practitioner: A Review of the Literature on Nurse Practitioner and Physician Assistant Programmes (1996) by P Watson, N Hendey, R Dingwall, E Spencer and P Wilson.	£10.00
96/03	Evaluation of two Pharmaceutical Care Programmes for People with Mental Health Problems Living in the Community (1996) by A Aldridge, R Dingwall and P Watson.	£10.00
97/01	Working Group on Primary and Community Care Purchasing : Report of the Sub-Group on the promotion of Quality in Primary Care - Effective Purchasing of Primary and Community Health Care: Promotion of Quality in the Provision of Primary Care (1997) by S Jennings and M Pringle.	£10.00
97/02	Working Group on Primary and Community Care Purchasing : Report of the Sub-Group on Information Needs for Health Needs Assessment and Resource Allocation (1997) by T Baxter, A Howe, C Kenny, D Meechan, M Pringle, P Redgrave, J Robinson and A Sims.	£10.00

98/01 Working Group on Primary and Community Care Purchasing : Hospital at Home - £10.00 Lessons from Trent (1998) by I Perez, A Wilson, A Sims and R Harper. Copies of these documents are available from:-

Alison Ring Information Resources Trent Institute for Health Services Research Regent Court 30 Regent Street SHEFFIELD S1 4DA

Tel 0114 222 0703 Fax 0114 272 4095

E-mail scharrlib@sheffield.ac.uk

Please make cheques payable to "The University of Sheffield"